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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, each a “Director’)
of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (‘GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

FTEMER

The following list contains properties held by the Group as at 31 TRV AEEBR -_ZE-_“F+-B=+—H

December 2022: BFBEZYE:

Details of the Investment properties KREYEFS

Location Existing use Type of lease
g RERG LR

The car parking space Nos. 3, Car Park Level CP3,
Towers 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33,
No. 31 Grandeur Road, Parc Oasis, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENEN —BIRER315526:27:28+29-30°31 32 %33
FEIFCPIE3SRIFE L

The car parking space Nos. 10, Car Park Level CP3,
Towers 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33,
No. 31 Grandeur Road, Parc Oasis, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENEN—BIRERK315526°27:28+29°30~31 32 K33
{FEHIBCPIE 105K IEE L

Note: These investment properties are for rental purpose. Hizt:

Car parking space Long lease

B RUEE

Car parking space Long lease

FE RUEE

ZEREYEFHEERR -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”),
| hereby present the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (“Year”). During the Year, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$60,823,000, a decrease of
approximately 8.7% when compared with that of approximately
HK$66,642,000 for the previous year. The basic and diluted loss
per share for the Year were approximately HK21.54 cents (2021:
approximately HK19.79 cents).

The business of the Group’s principal operating subsidiary, iAsia
Online Systems Limited (“iAsia”), contributed approximately
95.7% (2021: approximately 91.3%) of the Group’s revenue
for the Year. Affected by the volatility of the Hong Kong stock
market, the revenue of iAsia decreased by approximately
4.3% to approximately HK$58,193,000 (2021: approximately
HK$60,818,000). Although certain customers terminated their
software licensing services contracts with iAsia during the
Year, iAsia still keeps a steady intake of new projects from its
customers.

The money lending business is another core business segment
of the Group. Notwithstanding sharp rebound of global demand,
certain industries still underwent recession in the Year. The
Group conducted its money lending business with stringent
credit control under this environment. Revenue from the Group’s
money lending business was approximately HK$2,628,000
for the Year (2021: approximately HK$5,105,000), decreased
by approximately 48.5%. Money lending business contributed
approximately 4.3% (2021: approximately 7.7%) of the total
revenue of the Group for the Year. The Group will continue to
strengthen its credit control strategy and loan management
policies in order to mitigate its credit risks and improve its debt
collection.

The Group’s assets investments comprised securities investments
during the Year. Resulting from the volatile Hong Kong financial
market in the Year and the financial performance of the respective
investee companies, the Group recorded a fair value loss of
approximately HK$6,756,000 for the Year (2021: approximately
HK$928,000).

Entering into 2022, the fifth wave of the epidemic severely
hit local economic activities and the recovering economy.
Superimposed global geopolitical tensions and sharply tightening
monetary policies by the world’s major central banks, Hong
Kong’s annual GDP declined by around 3.5%.
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Since the outbreak of COVID-19, Hong Kong’s financial
regulatory authorities and companies actively coordinated and
launched a series of support measures. The operations of
financial system and market are smooth basically. However,
the stock market suffered from the epidemic and showed a
weak trend. Especially in 2022, in addition to the impact of the
epidemic at the beginning of the year, increasing global inflation,
rising interest rates by major central banks, geopolitical tensions,
and weak market sentiments all led to an increase in the volatility
of Hong Kong stock market. The Hang Seng Index fell to 19,781
points by the end of December 2022, dropping more than 21%
from the peak in 2022 of 24,966 points.

Looking into 2023, risks and opportunities coexist. There are
dawning signs of an end to the pandemic, and Hong Kong is
resuming customs clearance with the outside gradually. Taking
into consideration of all internal and external factors, Hong
Kong’s GDP is expected to return to a positive growth in 2023,
and start afresh in the post-pandemic era.

The Group will continue to strive for excellence in its products
and services in order to maintain its competitiveness and
enhance its growth in the fintech industry. The Group is
dedicated to exploring more new business opportunities to
diversify its business scales and risks.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
thanks to our shareholders, business partners and customers for
their confidence and continuous support for the Group. | would
also like to extend my gratitude to our staff for their dedications,
commitment and determination to succeed.

Tin Yat Yu Carol
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE R

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the
provision of financial trading software solutions, provision of
other IT and internet financial platforms services, money lending
business and assets investments in Hong Kong.

In 2021, one of the subsidiaries of the Company, a holder of
the license in respect of type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity (“Type 6 License”) under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQO”),
which did not carry on any business, surrendered its Type 6
License to the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”), the
process of which was completed in April 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of financial trading software solutions

During the Year, the financial trading software solutions
business division remained as the key source of income of
the Group. The segment revenue from external customers
contributed by the Group’s principal operating subsidiary,
iAsia, amounted to approximately HK$58,193,000 (2021:
approximately HK$60,818,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 4.3%. As a result of the decrease in revenue, the
profit before tax generated by this business segment decreased
from approximately HK$11,402,000 in 2021 to approximately
HK$9,168,000 in 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
19.6%. Although certain customers terminated their software
licensing services contracts with iAsia during the Year, iAsia still
keeps a steady intake of new projects from its customers.

During the Year, iAsia continued to strive for excellence in its
products and services with its experienced fintech workforce.
Its financial trading software solutions were optimised to cope
with the regime and current market requirements. In addition,
modular design was applied to the system which enhanced
the flexibility for the Group’s customers to expand their usage
capacity in accordance with the growth and changing needs of
their businesses. iAsia was also committed to providing quality
software maintenance services to its customers throughout the
Year.

As iAsia has built up reputation in the financial trading software
solutions industry in Hong Kong and has a well-established
customer base with sizeable banks and brokerage firms, the
Group is able to generate stable sources of income during
the Year. The Group will continue to keep up with the market
trends and the industry requirements and focus on improving
its operational efficiency with rationalised costs to maintain its
competitiveness in the markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services

During the Year, no revenue was generated from the provision of
other IT and internet financial platforms services business division
(2021: Nil) which recorded a segment profit of approximately
HK$50,000 (2021: approximately segment loss HK$154,000).
In order to improve the sales performance of this business
division, the Group will continue to diversify the provision of
other IT services, such as providing system migration services
to new customers. The Group will seize opportunities to
diversify the client base of its provision of other IT and internet
financial platforms services business in order to strengthen its
competitiveness in the industry.

Money lending business

The Group provides its money lending business through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Finsoft Finance Limited (“FFL”),
which holds a money lender’s licence under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“MLO”). FFL offers loan financing services to both
corporate and individual customers as its target clients in
full compliance with the requirements under the MLO and
the clients are mainly introduced by the Directors. During
the Year, revenue derived from the money lending business
division amounted to approximately HK$2,628,000 (2021:
approximately HK$5,105,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 48.5%. This business segment recorded a
loss before tax of approximately HK$7,989,000 during the
Year (2021: approximately HK$19,724,000). The provision for
impairment loss on loan and interest receivables for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$749,000 (2021: approximately
HK$13,265,000), representing a decrease of HK$12,516,000. In
assessing the expected credit loss allowance for loan and interest
receivables, the Group considered (i) the loan receivables which
have been past due as at 31 December 2022; (i) the repayment
history of loan and interest receivables of each borrower during
the Year; and (i) the probability of default rate due to the inability
of the borrowers to make repayments to the Group when due.

The provision for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables
for the Year decreased as there was no material change in the
credit status and credentials of the loan and interest receivables
of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021
using the Group’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) model, and so no
material impairment loss was recognised for the Year.

There was no significant change to the basis, assumptions and
inputs adopted in the ECL assessment for the Year from those
adopted in previous year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmKRDN

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s loan receivables
balance (net of loss allowance) amounted to approximately
HK$37,575,000 (2021: approximately HK$49,925,000), out
of which approximately HK$5,762,000 (2021: approximately
HK$7,387,000), representing approximately 15% (2021:
approximately 15%) of the total loan receivables of the
Group, was due from the largest borrower of the Group and
an aggregate sum of approximately HK$20,421,000 (2021:
approximately HK$25,898,000), representing approximately 54%
(2021: approximately 52%) of the total loan receivables of the
Group, was due from the five largest borrowers of the Group. The
interest rate charged to the Group’s customers during the Year
ranged from 8% per annum to 21.6% per annum (2021: 8% per
annum to 33.6% per annum). As at 31 December 2022, the loan
receivables had a fixed term ranging from 3 months to 2 years
(2021: 3 months to 2 years). The Group held collaterals such as
properties and jewelry and guarantees over its loan receivable
balance of approximately HK$5,163,000 (2021: approximately
HK$4,962,000). The Group had complied with the requirements
set out in Chapter 19 and/or 20 of the GEM Listing Rules when
it granted the loans to each of the borrowers, whose loan was
still outstanding as at 31 December 2022, and the Group did
not enter into any agreement, arrangement, understanding or
undertaking (whether formal or informal and whether express
or implied) with a connected person with respect to the grant
of loans to the borrowers whose loans were still outstanding
as at 31 December 2022. The Group’s money lending business
will remain a sustainable business sector of the Group. The
management monitors the loan and interest receivables balances
on an on-going basis.

As at 31 December 2022, there were 32 borrowers (consisting
of 30 individual borrowers and two corporate borrowers) whose
loans remained outstanding. All of these individual borrowers had
solely unsecured loans outstanding, except that one borrower
had both unsecured loans and secured loan outstanding; and
another borrower only had a secured loan outstanding. With
respect to the two corporate borrowers, one had a secured and
guaranteed loan outstanding while the other had an unsecured
but guaranteed loan outstanding.

As at 31 December 2022, the loan receivables (net of loss
allowance) amounted to approximately HK$37,575,000, the
ageing analysis of which based on the remaining contractual
maturity date and net of loss allowance is set out below:
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1B 8974 37,575,000 BT HIREH DT (B
R TENEARINMGEEREMES) HHIWT:

2022 2021

-z = =T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FET

Overdue #HA 31,517 46,032
Due within 3 months R31E A W EHA 50 950
Due after 3 months but within 6 months R3E B & ZE6E 3 W E 8 2,343 2,943
Due after 6 months but within 12 months HReEAZE121E 8 N EIEA 947 -
Due after 12 months R12M@ 2 & = H 2,718 -
Total #Est 37,575 49,925
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Internal control procedures

In order to minimise the credit risks and default risks associated
with the money lending business, FFL has its internal control
and work procedure manual in provision of the loan financing
services. When clients approach FFL for a request on loan
financing, client identification procedures will take place with
officers of FFL enquiring the potential clients’ information.
Individual clients are required to provide documents including
but not limited to his/her Hong Kong identity card or passport
and residential address proof and corporate clients are required
to provide documents including but not limited to the certificate
of incorporation, registers of members and directors, the articles
of association, the certificate of incumbency and/or certificate
of good standing (where applicable). An application form will be
filled in and submitted to FFL.

Generally, credit worthiness assessments will take place for
potential individual and corporate clients by (1) doing financial
assessments such as obtaining bank and security statements,
income proof, property proof, its audited financial statements
and/or the latest management account (if any); and (2)
conducting different searches such as bankruptcy or winding up
search, land search and credit search.

FFL has in place all measures to duly observe relevant laws, rules
and regulations including but not limited to those in connection
with sanctions or terrorist financing risk of potential clients and/
or its businesses, such as the nature and details of the business/
occupation/employment of the potential clients (if applicable); the
nationality of potential clients; the expected source and origin
of the funds to be used; and the initial and ongoing source(s)
of wealth or income (if applicable). FFL performs monitoring on
clients as to their credit risk and reviews the extent required
for clients’ due diligence and the ageing of loan and interest
receivables balances on an ongoing basis.

In determining the loan terms (including but not limited to the
interest rate and the duration of the loan), FFL refers to the
prevailing market practices in order to lower FFL's exposure and
will take into account the requirement of security, personal or
corporate guarantee, the background of the potential clients (with
reference to the documents provided and their reputation) and
the results of credit risk assessment on those potential clients.
The terms of the loans to be granted and the necessary loan
documentations would be subject to the approval process.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD

For loans in the amount of less than HK$5 million, any one
member of the credit committee of the Company (“Credit
Committee”) may approve the grant of such loans. For loans
in the amount of more than HK$5 million but less than HK$10
million, the unanimous consent of the members of the Credit
Committee is required for approving the grant of such loans. For
loans in the amount of more than HK$10 million, a majority vote
from the Board is required for approving the grant of such loans.

Notwithstanding the monetary threshold stated above, FFL will
also review whether any proposed transactions may constitute
notifiable transactions or connected transactions to ensure the
proposed transactions will be conducted in compliance with the
applicable requirements under the GEM Listing Rules and the
applicable rules and regulations.

FFL will monitor continuously the loan and interest payment
according to the terms of the loan agreements and follow up
closely with its clients as to the deadlines in payment of the
loan or interest. FFL's officers remind borrowers regularly for
repayment of loan instalments and the interests accrued thereon
in accordance with the repayment schedule agreed for such
loans, and with those reminders, the officers will also check as to
whether the borrowers agree with the balance of the loans. FFL
has standard procedure in dealing with default in payment. The
officers of FFL will report to the Credit Committee on the loans’
respective repayment status on a monthly basis and any cases
of default in repayment will be reported to the Credit Committee
immediately.

A debts collection policy is also in place within the Group to
collect the borrowers’ outstanding debts. In cases of default
and/or delinquent loans, the recovery procedure of the debts
collection policy will commence and the officers of FFL will (i)
send reminder letters or e-mails or Whatsapp to the borrowers
for repayment; (i) arrange for negotiations with the borrowers
for the repayments or settlement of loans and accrued interests;
and (i) request settlement of the outstanding amount owed to
the Group through telephone calls, from time to time. The Group
may also engage lawyers in advising on the loan and its recovery
and enforcement action. These lawyers may be engaged as well
to (i) issue demand letters to the borrowers in default of their
repayment, demanding for repayment of the outstanding amount
owed to FFL; and (i) advise and assist in the potential legal
actions required for the enforcement of the loans with default in
repayment. Subject to applicable laws and regulations including
but not limited to the MLO, third-party debt collection agencies
may be engaged to recover the overdue amounts owed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision for impairment loss on loan and interest
receivables

The Group has recorded a provision for impairment loss on loan
and interest receivables of approximately HK$749,000 during
the Year (2021: HK$13,265,000). The assessment of the Group’s
provision for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables for
the Year was performed under the ECL model in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 9 Financial
Instruments. The key measuring parameters and inputs of the
ECL approach include probability of default (“PD”), loss given
default (‘LGD”) and exposure at default (‘EAD”), which are based
on the assessed creditworthiness of the borrowers.

In determining the credit risk of the borrowers, the Company
considered the following factors: (a) if it is an individual borrower
or a corporate borrower; (b) the industry where the corporate
borrower operates; (c) the internal credit assessment of the
borrower; and (d) the historical repayment records of, and the
working relationship with, the borrower.

In determining whether there have been significant increases in
credit risk, the following key criteria are taken into account:

(@) an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
borrower’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

(b) significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for the corporate borrower;

(c) existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

(d) an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the corporate borrower;

(e) significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same corporate borrower;

(f) an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of
the borrower that results in a significant decrease in the
borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

(9) status of the loan and interest receivables as at the
reporting date, including any breach of contract such as a
default or past due event as at the reporting date; and

(h) whether it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

A borrower will be regarded as credit-impaired if he is in default
of the loan principal, or has entered bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, or has severely delayed payments of the loan
principal or interests.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmKRDN

The Group categorises the credit quality of its loan and interest
receivables according to 3 different stages under the ECL model:

Stage 1: financial assets without significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition where loss allowance is calculated based
on 12-month ECL;

Stage 2: financial assets with significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition where loss allowance is calculated based
on lifetime ECL; and

Stage 3: credit impaired assets where loss allowance is
calculated based on lifetime ECL.

In general, loan and interest receivables that are not defaulted
and have no sign of any significant increase in credit risk,
including loans which were still outstanding as at 31 December
2022 but the principal has been repaid partially and the
borrowers and the Group have entered into supplemental loan
agreements, are categorised as Stage 1 assets and the Group
adopted the PD published by the credit rating agencies and
credit reporting agencies based on the background of the
borrowers and credit analysis performed. Regarding the LGD,
relevant market value of the collateral has been considered when
determining the LGD.

For borrowers that are identified to have significant increases
in credit risk, including borrowers who have entered into
settlement agreements with the Group due to default in and/or
late repayment of their respective loans, their loan and interest
receivables are categorised as Stage 2 assets and the Group
adopted the PD by referring to the high risk categories for the
corresponding type of the borrower (i.e. individual borrower or
corporate borrower).

For borrowers that are identified to be credit-impaired, including
borrowers who are in default of the loan principal, or have
entered bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, or have
severely delayed payments of the loan principal or interests, their
loan and interest receivables are categorised as Stage 3 assets
and the Group applied the PD of the lowest credit categories.

The assumptions adopted in the ECL assessment are as follows:
(@) the market trends and conditions where the borrowers
operate will not deviate significantly from economic

forecasts in general; and

(b) the probabilities of defaults as extracted from TransUnion,
Moody’s and market statistics are assumed to be unbiased.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 32 borrowers
(31 December 2021: 33) with total outstanding loan principal and
interest receivables in the sum of approximately HK$98 million
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$121 million). The Group
has identified its 32 borrowers as at 31 December 2022 into the
aforesaid three stages under ECL approach as follows:

(a) Stage 1: 5 borrowers (31 December 2021: 5) were identified
to be in Stage 1;

(b) Stage 2: 10 borrowers (31 December 2021: 15) were
identified to be in Stage 2;
(c) Stage 3: 17 borrowers (31 December 2021: 13) were

identified to be in Stage 3.

The provision for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables
provided for the Year decreased as there was no material
change in the credit status and credentials of the loan and
interest receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021 using the Group’s ECL model, and so no
material impairment loss was recognised for the Year.

There was no significant change to the basis, assumptions and
inputs adopted in the ECL assessment for the Year from those
adopted in previous year.

The Directors believe that the credit assessment on the loans
and interest receivables based on the Company’s money
lending policy will provide a fair and reasonable estimate of the
impairment losses.

The Company has instructed its legal advisers to issue demand
letters or emails to the borrowers who have overdue loans for
more than 90 days demanding immediate repayment of the
outstanding loan principal and interests. Legal advice has been
sought for potential further legal actions including but not limited
to issuing statutory demands. The Company will carry on ongoing
periodic review and negotiations with borrowers for repayment
or settlement of their overdue balances to mitigate the financial
impact to the Group and ensure adherence to its money lending

policy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEERRD R

Assets investments

The portfolio of the Group’s assets investments business during
the Year consisted of investments in securities that were held for
trading. Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s securities
investments recorded as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 December 2022:

BERE
FEERFANEERBEFHECBERFES
NEFRE - TXHINAERR T _F+=
B=+— EIuﬂﬁﬁiﬁ’\zﬁa‘fﬁﬁ)\?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]fﬁ%ﬁ:ﬁ
[XEUDE%&,@EHH\

Movements during the year ended 31 December 2022

HECECZETIRSH-ALEENED

Number of
shares held
and % of total  Percentage to  Percentage to
share capital  the Group’s  the Group’s
Carrying Carrying held by the audited net  audited total
amount as at amount as at Groupasat  assetsasat  assetsasat
1 January Realised  Unrealised 31 Dy L 31D b 31D 31 D b
Description of investments RERR 2022 Addition Disposal gain/(loss)  gain/(loss) 2022 2022 2022 2022
K-
toAZt-B GAEER  REER
HENRAEUE
RIBZZE RZBZZE RAEEFE +28 =
—-B-B# BER #85 +-B=+-H {ERRAH &&&éééﬁfﬁ BEHLEE
REE #E HE  WE/FR)  WE/(ER) HEREE BBl HES WERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR FER FER FER
(Approximate) ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate) (Approximate) ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)
(%) (4 (4 (4 (84) (B4) (#4) (4) (4)
PT International Development Corporation Limited BRELEERAR 746 - - - (262) 484 2,766,000 shares 0.8% 0.5%
(Stock Code: 372) (‘PT International’) frote &) 55:872) (MREER)) 0.14%)
(iza) 2,766,0008%
0.14%)
China Demeter Financial Investments Limited Iﬁémﬂ&éﬁﬂﬁ’z}u 187 - (173) (14) - - - - -
(Stock Code: 8120) (*China Demeter’) (note b (Rinfig5:8120) (E
(ze)
Lumina Group Limited (Stock Code: 1162) HEABRAR 2,736 - - - (1,149 1,687 13,680,000 shares 2.5% 1.5%
(“Luming’) (note ¢) (ﬁ%ﬁ Bl 62) (U= (2.28%)
i) 13,680,000
(2.28%)
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited RREELRERAT 513 - - - 270 783 1,799,000 shares 1.2% 0.8%
(Stock Code: 8219) (‘Hanvey') fnote o (Bipfisiso19) (MER) (1.09%)
Wz d 1,799,000
1.09%)
Crown International Corporation Limited SHRHERERAR) 505 - 6] - (302) 200 4,320,000 shares 0.3% 02%
(Stock Code: 727) (‘Crown’) fnote &) (Bipres27) (12R)) (0.12%)
(ite) 4,320,000%
(0.12%)
China Eco-Farming Limited (Stock Code: 8166) EPIE%S‘%E N 657 498 - - (846) 309 4,990,000 shares 05% 0.3%
(‘China Eco-Farming’) fnote /) (RiMst:8166) (TREREEE)) (3.84%)
s 4,990,008
3.84%)
GBA Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 261) GBA£EARAT 3,750 - - - (3,566) 184 3,750,000 shares 0.3% 0.2%
(GBA) fnote g/ (Rfnfts:261) (TGBA) (0.17%)
(g 3,750,000%
(0.17%)
Semiconductor Manufacturing International FRERERERLEERAT) 187 - - - (20) 167 10,000 shares 0.3% 0.2%
Corporation (Stock Code: 981) (RipHgE:081) (MRS EIR)) 0.0001%)
('SMIC") fnote ) (i h) 10,0008
(0.0001%)
Value Convergence Holdings Limited ERZERARAT 1,080 - - - (630) 450 3,000,000 shares 0.7% 04%
(Stock Code: 821) (VC') fnote (Bipfese 821) (TER)) (0.14%)
(Wi 3,000,000%
(0.14%)
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited BENERERERAR 238 - (64) (174) - - - - -
(Stock Code: 451) (‘GCL") fnote (Rt 451) (&)
W)
Hao Tian International Construction Investment SRARESREETERAT - 753 (47) 10 (162) 554 1,816,000 shares 0.9% 0.5%
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1341 (RipfsE:1341) (TRX) 0.02%)
(Hao Tian') frote #) (2K 1,816,000%
(0.02%)
JD.com, Inc. (Stock Code: 9618) (*JD) (note ) RREERNERAT - 1,039 (1,145) 106 - - - - -
(RfpfisE9618) (&)
7
HG Semiconductor Limited (Stock Code: 6908) EHEEEERAT - 785 - - (170) 565 191,000 shares 0.9% 0.5%
('HG") (note m) (Bipfss:6008) (M23%1) (0.03%)
(it m) 191,000
(0.03%)
Chu Kong Shipping Enterprises (Group) Company  #IH¥ 0% (B3 BRAF - 940 (1,003 153 - - - - -
Limited (Stock Code: 560) (‘Chu Kong’) fnote ) (Ri3438:560) (KT
(W)
Total: &t 10619 3,965 (2,625) 81 (6,837) 5,303
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Notes:

(@)

PT International and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “PT
International Group”) are principally engaged in the businesses of
investment holding, trading of commodities, recycling and trading of
metals, chemical storage business, provision of management services,
financial institute business and loan financing services. As disclosed
in the interim report of PT International for the six months ended 30
September 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of PT International
for the six months ended 30 September 2022 were approximately
HK$367.4 million and HK$96.8 million respectively; and (i) the PT
International will continue to take a conservative approach and will
periodically review the viability of its business units. The PT International
Group will focus on economies where economic activities and saving
rates are higher, expecting that the economic rebound will be stronger in
these countries.

China Demeter and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China
Demeter Group”) are principally engaged in (i) alcoholic beverage
distribution and miscellaneous business; (ii) food and beverage business;
(i) money lending business; (iv) provision of children education services;
(v) financial services business; and (vi) securities investment business.
As disclosed in the third quarterly report of China Demeter for the nine
months ended 30 September 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss
of China Demeter from continued operations for the nine months ended
30 September 2022 were approximately HK$101.2 million and HK$15.7
million respectively; and (ii) the management of the China Demeter Group
plan to open and invest in new restaurants and China Demeter Group
will maintain its lean and efficient organization structure to cope with the
continuing challenges. The Group disposed of its investment in shares
of China Demeter and recorded a net realised loss of approximately
HK$14,000 for the Year.

Lumina and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Lumina Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of fire safety services in Hong
Kong. As disclosed in the interim report of Lumina for the six months
ended 30 September 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Lumina
for the six months ended 30 September 2022 were approximately
HK$44.3 million and HK$1.4 million respectively; and (i) the Lumina
Group would continue to strengthen its market position, deliver more
values to the customers and optimise productivity and efficiency.

Hanvey and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Hanvey Group”)
are principally engaged in design and development, manufacturing and
distribution of watch products on original design manufacturing basis
for watch manufacturers, brand owners and watch importers across
the globe. As disclosed in the third quarterly report of Hanvey for the
nine months ended 30 September 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and
profit of Hanvey for the nine months ended 30 September 2022 were
approximately HK$207.7 million and HK$2.3 million respectively; and (ii)
the Hanvey Group would continue to focus on the core business, take
efforts in strengthening its product design and development capability to
maximise the long term returns of its shareholders.
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Crown and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Crown Group”) are
principally engaged in (i) property investment; (ii) property development;
(i) hotel operations; and (iv) provision of comprehensive healthcare
planning and management services in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”). As disclosed in the interim report of Crown for the six months
ended 30 September 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Crown
for the six months ended 30 September 2022 were approximately
HK$421.2 million and HK$403.3 million respectively; (i) the Crown Group
would be able to recognise sales revenue from the Golden Beach No.
1 Project phase |, the key property development project of the Crown
Group, in the financial year of 2023/24; and (iiij the Crown Group is
under the development to cooperate with property owners to modify
property projects into high-end healthcare projects and combined with
the capital operation of insurance companies and financial institutions to
jointly operate healthcare projects.

China Eco-Farming and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China
Eco-Farming Group”) are principally engaged in the business of trading
of grocery food products, trading of consumables and agricultural
products, property investment, provision of money lending services,
one-stop value chain services and provision of financial services. As
disclosed in the third quarterly report of China Eco-Farming for the nine
months ended 30 September 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of
China Eco-Farming for the nine months ended 30 September 2022 were
approximately HK$18.3 million and HK$36.6 million respectively; (i) other
than the one-stop value chain services in relation to IT, the management
of the China Eco-Farming Group has diversified into the gaming industry,
S0 as to sustain its business during this tough atmosphere in Hong Kong;
(iii) the China Eco-Farming Group originally has few property investments
in Hong Kong and the PRC and will carefully monitor its property
investments portfolio; (iv) the China Eco-Farming Group has put strong
effort on developing the trading of consumables and agricultural products
segment, the revenue of the food trading business is expected to grow
steady in the foreseeable future; (v) the China Eco-Farming Group will
also put more use of online platform and social media to enhance the
business of trading of grocery food products; and (vi) the China Eco-
Farming Group will, depending on the market conditions, reallocate its
resources from the financial services to develop other businesses that
expected to have a brighter prospect.

GBA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “GBA Group”) are
principally engaged in property business and finance business. As
disclosed in the interim report of GBA for the six months ended 30 June
2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of GBA for the six months
ended 30 June 2022 were approximately HK$9 million and HK$14
million respectively; (i) the GBA Group continued to focus on its property
projects in Anshan, the Liaoning Province; (iii) the GBA Group continued
to be engaged in a money lender business in Hong Kong and will explore
opportunities to expand finance business, including property mortgage,
share mortgage, working capital financing and luxury goods financing;
and (iv) the GBA Group commenced the business of sale of automobile
to diversify its revenue base.

SMIC and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “SMIC Group”) are
principally engaged in the computer-aided design, sales and marketing,
technical research and development, manufacturing, trading of integrated
circuits and other semiconductor services, as well as designing and
manufacturing semiconductor masks, respectively. As disclosed in the
interim report of SMIC for the six months ended 30 June 2022, (i) the
unaudited revenue and profit of SMIC for the six months ended 30 June
2022 were approximately US$3,745.1 million and US$1,198.2 million
respectively; and (i) the SMIC Group plans to add more capacity than in
2021. At present, the equipment delivery lead time is further lengthened,
and the SMIC Group may experience some delay in the expansion
schedule of new capacity, but the SMIC Group will maintain close
cooperation with its suppliers and strive to deliver the capacity according
to the set target.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VC and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “VC Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of financial services, proprietary
trading and sale and distribution of healthcare products. As disclosed
in the interim report of VC for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
(i) the unaudited revenue and loss of VC for the six months ended 30
June 2022 were approximately HK$35.7 million and HK$61.9 million
respectively; (i) the VC Group will continue to strengthen its close ties
with its local long-term clients, striving to offer excellent and diversified
services that meet the needs of its customers at competitive rates,
and benefit from a recovery in Hong Kong’s stock trading and IPO
fund-raising markets. In seizing increased market share and fresh
opportunities, the VC Group seeks to expand the scale of its financial
services business and continue to identify suitable acquisitions and
investment targets in the market as opportunities arise; (iii) the VC Group
would continue to explore the business opportunities in the mainland
China digital asset market; and (iv) the VC Group will continue to explore
and liaise with potential business partners on sales of digital assets and
non-fungible tokens. More resources will be dedicated by the VC Group
to mapping out a blueprint for the digital assets segment accordingly.

GCL and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “GCL Group”) are
principally engaged in the sale of electricity, development, construction,
operation and management of solar power plants. As disclosed in
the interim report of GCL for the six months ended 30 June 2022, (i)
the unaudited revenue and loss of GCL for the six months ended 30
June 2022 were approximately RMB558 million and RMB410.4 million
respectively; (i) the GCL Group would proactively push forward the
development of hydrogen energy business by persistently promoting
innovation, proactively embracing changes and relying on the visionary
planning of the management, with an aim to creating a sustainable
“asset-light and highly profitable” clean energy enterprise and taking the
role as a practitioner and promoter in “bringing green power to life”; and
(i) the GCL Group would seize the significant development opportunities
arising from the domestic energy transformation to generate greater
returns for the society and its shareholders. The Group disposed of
its investment in shares of GCL and recorded a net realised loss of
approximately HK$174,000 for the Year.

Hao Tian and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Hao Tian
Group”), the principal activities of which include money lending, securities
investment, provision of commodities, futures, securities brokerage and
financial services, asset management, rental and trading of construction
machinery, provision of repair and maintenance and transportation
service and property development. As disclosed in the interim report of
Hao Tian for the six months ended 30 September 2022, (i) the unaudited
revenue and profit of Hao Tian for the six months ended 30 September
2022 were approximately HK$123 million and HK$91 million respectively;
(i) the Hao Tian Group will remain cautious and sensibly uphold its risk
management policies, strengthen its capital management and implement
stringent cost control measures to uphold its profitability during downturn
of economy; (iii) the Hao Tian Group continues to expand its clients base
and establish a strong track record in order to strengthen the businesses
of corporate financial advisory services, asset management services
and streamline the clients base of money lending services in the coming
future; and (iv) the Hao Tian Group is also exploring more business
opportunities to invest in more business sectors in Cambodia and to
share the development dividend of this high growing emerging market in
the future.
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Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited e

JD and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “JD Group”) is a leading
supply chain-based technology and service provider. The JD Group’s
e-commerce business includes online retail and online marketplace.
In the online retail business, the JD Group acquires products from
suppliers and sells them directly to its customers primarily through its
mobile apps and websites. In the online marketplace business, third-
party merchants sell products to customers primarily through its mobile
apps and websites. The JD Group also offers marketing, logistics and
other value-added services. As disclosed in the announcement of the
second quarter and interim 2022 results of JD for the six months ended
30 June 2022, (i) the unaudited net revenue and net income of JD for
the six months ended 30 June 2022 were approximately RMB507,255
million and RMB510 million respectively; (i) JD Ehome, the first Apple
authorized offline store operated by JD, was officially launched in Beijing,
providing customers an integrated online to offline shopping experience.
This is the first time for JD and Apple to expand collaboration from online
to offline by leveraging JD’s proprietary business model. It also marks a
milestone as JD is the first online retailer in China in nearly five years that
receives the authorization of Apple Premium Reseller (APR), the highest
level of Apple reseller in China; (i) JD Health became the first company
in China’s internet healthcare sector that received the 1SO27799
certification for personal health information security management system,
issued by the international certification body British Standards Institution
(BSI). This demonstrates JD Health’s international leading capabilities
in user information security and privacy management; (iv) JD Logistics
operated over 1,500 warehouses, including warehouse space managed
through the open warehouse platform, JD Logistics’s warehouse network
had an aggregate gross floor area of over 30 million square meters; (v)
JD Industry established strategic cooperation with a number of leading
industrial enterprises, such as State Grid, PipeChina, Nippon Paint,
among others. With its core intelligent capabilities in commodities,
procurement, fulfilment and operations, JD Industry helps its business
partners to achieve high-efficient resource coordination and allocation
along the industrial chain, thus building more resilient supply chain
capabilities. The Group disposed of its investment in shares of JD and
recorded a net realised gain of approximately HK$106,000 for the Year.

HG and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “HG Group”) are
principally engaged in the design, development, manufacturing,
subcontracting service and sales of semiconductor products, including
light emitting diode (“LED”) beads, gallium nitride (“GaN”) chips, GaN
components and related application products, and fast charging
products in the PRC. As disclosed in the interim report of HG for the six
months ended 30 June 2022, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of HG
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 were approximately RMB43.4
million and RMB51.5 million respectively; (i) the HG Group aims to
strengthen its existing business and its R&D capabilities, it will continue
to cooperate with leading enterprises and attract more semiconductor
industry talents to further accelerate R&D and expand the applications
of GaN-related products. The HG Group will explore every opportunity to
establish a strong foothold in the fast-charging battery solution business
in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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(n)  Chu Kong and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Chu Kong
Group”) are mainly engaged in provision of management and other
related services to high-speed waterway passenger transportation in
Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao; the operation and management of
river trade cargo terminals in the Mainland China and Hong Kong; cargo
transportation, warehousing and storage business; provision of diesel
and lubricants for passenger ferries and cargo vessels in Hong Kong;
provision of operation and management of facilities maintenance services
for properties and so forth in Macao; and provision of ferry services
and charter hire of vessels services in Hong Kong. As disclosed in the
interim report of Chu Kong for the six months ended 30 June 2022, (i)
the unaudited revenue and profit of Chu Kong for the six months ended
30 June 2022 were approximately HK$1,601.2 million and HK$61.7
million respectively; (i) the Chu Kong Group will persistently accelerate its
business transformation, upgrade and innovation by broadening its vision
of operation and development, adjusting the layout of industrial structure,
and integrating advantageous resources to break through development
bottlenecks as well as to form development synergies; (i) the Chu
Kong Group will make every effort to transform and upgrade its logistics
business. The Chu Kong Group will actively capture the opportunities
in the Hong Kong infrastructure market, and fully utilise the professional
engineering logistics loading, unloading and distribution base operated
by the Chu Kong Group in Hong Kong, in order to further develop
our engineering materials logistics business; (iv) the Chu Kong Group
will continue to develop new advantages in the passenger transport
business. The Chu Kong Group will promote operation integration of
its cross-border passenger business, focus on developing potential
routes and cancelling routes that have become less competitive in an
orderly manner; (v) the Chu Kong Group will actively develop the water
cultural tourism industry. The Chu Kong Group will focus on the project
of the “Oriental Pearl” Victoria Harbour tour and will promote the brand
building and raise awareness of “Oriental Pearl” to create a platform for
water cultural tourism and commercial events in Hong Kong. The Group
disposed of its investment in shares of Chu Kong and recorded a net
realised gain of approximately HK$153,000 for the Year.

During the Year, no dividend income was received by the
Group from its investments in listed securities that were held
for trading (2021: Nil). Resulting from the volatile conditions of
the Hong Kong stock market during the Year and the financial
performance of the respective investee companies, a net fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$6,756,000 (2021: approximately HK$928,000)
was recognised from the Group’s securities investments.

The objective of the Group’s investments in the listed securities
in Hong Kong is to achieve profit from the appreciation of the
market value of its invested securities and to receive dividend
income. The Directors expect that the stock market in Hong
Kong will remain volatile which may affect the performance of
the Group’s securities investments. The Board believes that
the performance of the securities investments of the Group
will be dependent on the financial and operating performance
of the investee companies and the market sentiment, which
are affected by factors, such as interest rate movements and
performance of the macro economy. The Group will continue to
adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of listed
securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor the
performance of its securities investment portfolio.
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Other investments

As at 31 December 2022, none of each of the Group’s
investments had a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total
assets and the Group’s investments included the following
investments:

(a) Listed equity investment (not held for trading) -
China Parenting Network Holdings Limited (“CPN”)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held 16,538,000
ordinary shares of CPN (“CPN Shares”), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1736), being approximately 1.61% of the total
issued shares of CPN. CPN, together with its subsidiaries,
operate an online platform focusing on the CBM (children,
babies, and maternity) market in the PRC and are mainly
engaged in (i) the provision of marketing and promotional
services through its platform; and (i) sales of goods in the
PRC. The Group will continue to hold the CPN Shares for
dividend income.

The CPN Shares were measured at fair value at
approximately HK$364,000 as at 31 December 2022, based
on their last closing price quoted on the Stock Exchange.
During the Year, the fair value loss of the CPN Shares
recognised to the financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income reserve of the Group
was approximately HK$794,000 (2021: approximately
HK$2,861,000). During the Year, no dividend income was
received from this investment (2021: Nil).

(b) Investment in an associate - Square Box Limited
(“Square Box”)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held 100% interests
in Infinite Capital Ventures Limited, which in turn held 50%
equity interest in Square Box. Square Box is principally
engaged in design, development and management of
mobile applications, which serve as social network platform
that focuses on child development and family activities,
including arrangement of extra-curricular activities for kids
and enabling parents to check the admission schedule
of schools and receive parental news. During the Year,
the loss of Square Box shared by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$361,000 (2021: approximately
HK$105,000). Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
monitor the operations of Square Box for the improvement
of its financial performance. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of the Group’s investment in Square Box,
an associate of the Group, was approximately HK$276,000
(2021: approximately HK$1,397,000).
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(c) Investment in a joint venture — Sky View Investment

Limited (“Sky View”)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held 49% interest in
Sky View, which is the holding company of approximately
22% interests in Rolaner International Limited (“Rolaner”).
Rolaner, through an operating company in the PRC, is
operating a mobile application “Mei Li Shen Qi (EEE##2S) ",
one of the largest online communities and e-commerce
platforms with millions of users for the medical beauty
industry in the PRC. In light of the market potentials in the
medical beauty industry in the PRC, the Group will continue
to hold its interest in Sky View with an aim to enjoy the
economic benefits of the businesses of Rolaner and its
subsidiaries in the future.

This investment was recorded as an investment in a
joint venture as at 31 December 2022. During the Year,
the Group shared the loss of Sky View of approximately
HK$9,000 (2021: approximately HK$7,000). As at 31
December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment in this joint venture was approximately
HK$93,000 (2021: approximately HK$102,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI mARAR

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Board has set out the following key financial performance
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business
performance for the Year:

Revenue growth rate (%)

Y 2 38 R 3R (%)
Objectives:
BHY :
-8.7%

— assess the growth of the Group
businesses
SHEREEERNILR

‘ — evaluate the overall sales

performance of the Group

/ A ARSI E S
2022

Loss before taxation (HK$’000)
PRI AIES I8 (F &)

Objectives:

(24,500) K
=]:0

— measure the operating profitability of
the Group’s businesses
B EAEEEBNEERFRE

— reflect the combination of revenue
growth and cost management
BRI IR RE R AEIENES

2021 2022

Current ratio

mELE R

Objectives:
2.8:1 B :

III 2.3:1 — assess the Group’s ability to mest

its short-term debt obligations
sHE A EEE H IS ERERRE
h

— indicate the sufficiency of the
Group's liquidity
RBPAEBRBHESMNTEN

2021 2022
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EFEIHUTIZEMHEEER UGERS

BAEERFRNER KRR

Gross profit margin (%)

EME(%)

2022

Objectives:
By :

review the pricing strategy of the
Group's products and services and
control the direct costs

e A EEERKRRBHEBESR
BE S0 B AL A

Operating cash inflow/(outflow)

(HK$’000)

BERSRA (Rd) (FET)

Objectives:

B :

reflect the ability of the Group’s
businesses to generate sufficient
cash flow to maintain its operations
R BRASEE B RS E L B HIRE TR
SUMRFEHEENRE

assess the Group’s ability to pay
routine operating expenses
SHEAEEL I HBEERSHN
sk

BESD

indicate the sufficiency of cash level
to support the Group’s current and
potential capital investments
RPRSKFERULZFAERHE
AR EBENERKE



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$60,823,000 (2021: approximately HK$66,642,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 8.7% as compared to
that of the last financial year. The decrease in the revenue of the
Group during the Year was due to (i) the decrease in the revenue
generated from the Group’s financial software solutions business,
which was affected by the volatility of the Hong Kong stock
market, as certain customers terminated their software licensing
services contracts with iAsia during the Year; and (ii) the decrease
in the revenue generated from the money lending business during
the Year. In view of the instability of the financial market and
economic environment in Hong Kong during the Year, the Group
had adopted a more prudent approach in approving new loans,
resulting in a reduction in the number of new borrowers and a
decrease in the interest income generated by the Group from
loan financing.

Gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$40,978,000 (2021: approximately HK$46,644,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 12.1% as compared to
that of the last financial year, which was in line with the decrease
in revenue. Gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was
approximately 67.4% (2021: approximately 70.0%).

Provision for impairment loss on goodwill

On 7 September 2020, the Group acquired 51% equity interest
of Metrotec Limited at a consideration of HK$16,320,000 (subject
to adjustments). Metrotec Limited and its subsidiary (“Metrotec
Group”) have been engaging in the provision of marketing and
operation of stored valued Mastercards (‘“CGU”).

Provision for impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$6,726,000 was recorded for the for the year ended 31
December 2021, as the Metrotec Group during the year ended
31 December 2021 did not perform as expected because:

(i)  potential customers could not visit Hong Kong due to the
travel restrictions imposed as a result of the prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic; and

(i) the indefinite delay in launching the Mastercard business
in Kazakhstan due to the economic instability under the
prolonged COVID-19 pandemic.

Accordingly, the Group has revised its cash flow forecasts for
the CGU. The CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount
to nil. There are no changes to the valuation method adopted in
2020 and 2021.

Therefore, provision for impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$6,726,000 was recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Further details about the basis and assumptions of the
impairment assessment on goodwill are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmKRDN

Fair value change of profit guarantee in relation
to the adjustments to the consideration for the
acquisition of the Metrotec Group

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered in relation
to the acquisition of the Metrotec Group, Oceanic Elite Holdings
Limited (“Vendor”) unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed
and warranted to the Company that the aggregate of audited
earnings before interest, tax depreciation and amortisation of the
Metrotec Group for the three financial years ending 31 December
2020, 2021 and 2022 as reflected in its audited financial
statements (“Audited EBITDA”) shall be of no less than the total
sum of HK$8,000,000 (“Guaranteed EBITDA”).

If the Audited EBITDA is less than the Guaranteed EBITDA
and lower than the sum of HK$3,600,000, the Vendor shall
compensate the Company in the amount (“Compensation Sum”)
calculated based on the following: (i) where the Audited EBITDA
is a positive figure and less than the sum of HK$3,600,000:
Compensation Sum = HK$7,344,000 - (Audited EBITDA * 4 *
51%); or (i) where the Audited EBITDA is a negative figure, the
Compensation Sum will be equal to HK$7,344,000.

As the Metrotec Group did not perform as expected and
recorded losses before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation of approximately HK$3,705,000, HK$2,284,000
and HK$572,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, 2021
and 2022 respectively, the Directors have reviewed the actual
performance for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and
2022 of the Metrotec Group and expected that the Metrotec
Group will not meet the Guaranteed EBITDA, i.e. the Audited
EBITDA expected to be a negative figure and the Compensation
Sum will be HK$7,344,000.

The expected Compensation Sum is recognised as the
contingent consideration receivable, measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss upon the
above condition met and subsequently measured at amortised
cost. The carrying amount was determined by an independent
professional valuer not connected with the Group based on the
expected Compensation Sum less the ECL.

As a result, fair value change on contingent consideration
(receivable)/payable of approximately HK$1,162,000 (2021:
approximately HK$6,203,000) was recognised in profit or loss for
the Year. And, the ECL of approximately HK$367,000 (2021: Nil)
was recognised for the Year accordingly.

Further details about the basis and assumptions of the fair

value change are set out in notes 7 and 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$58,743,000 (2021: approximately
HK$54,145,000), representing an increase of approximately 8.5%
as compared to that of the last financial year. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in the marketing expenses
incurred by the Group on different online channels and market
researches for expanding its market share, in line with the
continuous business expansion plan of the Group.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss after tax of approximately
HK$27,566,000 for the Year (2021: approximately
HK$26,327,000), increased by approximately 4.7%. The increase
in net loss was mainly due to the net effect of (i) the decrease
in the gross profit of the Group for the Year; (ii) the decrease in
the provision for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables
for the Year; (iii) the increase in the net fair value loss on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss for the Year as
mentioned above; and (iv) the increase in the marketing expenses
incurred by the Group for the Year as mentioned above.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank balances
were approximately HK$26,945,000 (2021: approximately
HK$37,544,000). The net current assets of the Group as at 31
December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$48,096,000
(2021: approximately HK$74,177,000). As at 31 December 2022,
approximately 99.8% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, while the remaining
balance was denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars.
The current ratio of the Group, which was defined as total current
assets divided by total current liabilities, was approximately 2.3
times as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately 2.8 times).
The Group’s working capital is sufficient to meet its operational
needs and capital commitments, if any.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total borrowing only
comprised the bank finance lease amounting to approximately
HK$1,380,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,697,000) with annual
effective interest rate at 4.83% and denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group’s bank finance lease will be matured
and settled on 27 October 2026. As at 31 December 2022,
the gearing ratio of the Group, which was defined as total
borrowing divided by total assets, was approximately 0.01 (2021:
approximately 0.01).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had shareholders’
equity of approximately HK$63,503,000 (2021: approximately
HK$91,863,000). As at 31 December 2022, the capital of the
Company comprised ordinary shares only.

The Company did not carry out any fund raising activities by
issuing new shares of the Company during the Year (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD

TREASURY AND FUNDING POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to its
treasury and funding policies, and its financial and fundraising
activities are subject to effective management and supervision.
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) through optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. The Directors did not consider the Group
was exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange

risks. During the Year, the Group did not adopt any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2021: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
charge on assets (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 20 May 2022, the Group entered into two provisional
agreements in respect of the acquisition of two car parking
spaces (i.e. the car parking space Nos. 3 and 10, Car Park Level
CP3, Towers 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33, No. 31 Grandeur
Road, Parc Oasis, Kowloon, Hong Kong) at the total purchase
price of HK$3,960,000 (excluding transaction costs). The
acquisitions were completed on 16 June 2022. Details of such
acquisitions are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 20 May 2022.

On 19 August 2022, the Company as tenant, and Max
Trinity Limited as landlord, entered into a tenancy agreement
(“Tenancy Agreement”) in respect of the leasing of Apartment
No. C, 4th Floor, Block CD and Car Parking Space No. 150,
Grenville House, Nos. 1 & 3 Magazine Gap Road, Hong Kong
(“Premises”) for a term of three years from 15 September 2022
to 14 September 2025 (both days inclusive). In accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Company was required to recognise
the value of the right-of-use asset in connection with the leasing
of the Premises under the Tenancy Agreement in the Company’s
consolidated statement of financial position. Accordingly,
the transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement
was regarded as an acquisition of assets by the Group for
the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the Tenancy
Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 19 August 2022.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the Group did not
have any other material acquisition or disposal transaction.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group does not have
any concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for
the coming year. Nonetheless, if any acquisition opportunity
arises or is identified in the coming year, the Group will conduct
a feasibility study and prepare implementation plans to consider
whether it is beneficial to the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 74 employees
(2021: 82). The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the
capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training. The Group remunerates its employees
mainly based on industry practices and individual performance
and experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary
bonus and share options may be granted to eligible staff by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as the individual
performance. Total employee benefits expense, including
directors’ emoluments, was approximately HK$47,589,000 for
the Year (2021: approximately HK$48,461,000).

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board,
under the recommendation from the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company, with reference
to the background, qualification, experience, duties and
responsibilities of the respective Directors within the Group and
the prevailing market conditions.

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to an
ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 10
September 2013 and the Board is authorised, at its absolute
discretion, to grant options to eligible participants including (a)
any full-time or part-time employee of any member of the Group;
(b) any consultant or adviser of any member of the Group; (c)
any director (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of any member of the Group; (d) any
substantial shareholder of the Group; or (e) any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service
provider of any member of the Group. Following the amendments
to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules which took effect on 1
January 2023, the Group will only grant options to such eligible
participants which are permitted under the GEM Listing Rules.
Details of the share options outstanding during the Year are set
out in the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages
53 to 55 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operational risks

The Group is exposed to operational risks in relation to each
business division of the Group. To manage operational risks,
the management of each business division is responsible
for monitoring the operation and assessing operational risks
of their respective business divisions. They are responsible
for implementing the Group’s risk management policies and
procedures and shall report any irregularities in connection
with operation to the Directors and seek for directions. The
Group emphasises on ethical value and prevention of fraud and
bribery and has established a whistleblower program, including
communication with other departments and business divisions
and units, to report any irregularities. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s operational risks have been effectively
mitigated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial risks

The Group is exposed to market risks (particularly price risks),
credit risks and liquidity risks, details of which are set out in note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROSPECT

The Hong Kong economy continued to contract significantly on
a year-on-year basis in the fourth quarter of 2022, which was
mainly attributable to the worsened global economic environment.
It is expected that the major central banks worldwide will
continue to raise interest rates in 2023 to curb inflation, which
will weigh on the global economic momentum. The continued
tensions in Ukraine and the effects of the recent banking turmoil
will also pose challenges to the global business environment. All
these factors have cast uncertainties over the global economic
outlook. Domestically, an improved economic outlook in tandem
with the return of economic activities from the epidemic to
normalcy should render a boost to private consumption in 2023.

Looking ahead, the generally stable pandemic situation,
progressive relaxation of social distancing measures and
improved labour market conditions will boost domestic
consumption demand. However, such positive effect will likely
be offset to a certain extent by the weak asset prices as a
result of the quantitative tightening measures adopted by the
major economies and the uncertainties arising from the recent
banking turmoil. The development of the pandemic and the
global economic conditions remain the key uncertainties in
relation to the revival of the Hong Kong economy. In light of
the dawning signs of an end to the pandemic, Hong Kong has
relaxed its quarantine controls and reopened its borders with
the PRC gradually in the first quarter of 2023. Taking all internal
and external factors into consideration, Hong Kong’s GDP is
expected to return to a positive growth in 2023.

The Group will continue to serve its clients diligently so as to
secure more customers with its experience and reputation in the
financial trading software solutions business. The money lending
business is another core business segment of the Group. In
view of the instability of the financial market and the economic
environment in Hong Kong, the Group will implement a prudent
approach in granting new loans and collect the loans it has
granted and the related interest receivables from the borrowers in
an active manner. In addition, the Group will also explore different
business opportunities in order to expand its businesses and
generate more revenue.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules then in force (“CG Code”) as its code of
corporate governance during the Year. During the Year, the
Company complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in the CG Code then in force.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules then in force. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consisted of four
executive Directors namely Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name
as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching Yee
and Ms. Lin Ting, and three independent non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and
Ms. Lo Wing Sze B8S, JP. The Board was chaired by Ms. Tin Yat
Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) during the Year and
as at the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors have
any relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) with each other.

The biographical details of all the Directors are set out on pages
47 to 51 of this annual report.
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Functions and responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for overseeing the
management of business, strategic decisions and financial
performance of the Company for the best interests of the
Shareholders. The Board has established various Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith
and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (particularly
those that may involve conflicts of interest), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

During the Year, 13 Board meetings were held to perform the
abovementioned duties and responsibilities and details of
attendance of each Board member are set out in the section
headed “Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 41 of this
annual report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring
that the Board’s procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the day-to-day management authority,
administration and operation of the Group to the executive
Directors, the chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief
Executive Officer”) and the senior management of the Group,
while reserving certain key matters in strategic decision making
for its approval. When the Board delegates certain aspects of
its management and administration functions to management,
it gives clear directions as to the powers of management, in
particular, with respect to the circumstances where management
needs to report back to and obtains prior approval from the
Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on behalf of the Group. During the Year, the executive Directors
and the Chief Executive Officer, who also represented the senior
management of the Group, provided all members of the Board
with monthly updates pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of the
CG Code while the Board regularly reviewed its arrangement on
delegation of authority and responsibilities to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing
circumstances.
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Directors’ appointment and re-election

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation
of the nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) of the
Company or by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin
Carol), an executive Director and the chairman of the Board
(“Chairman”), Mr. Chan Wai Lung (an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer) and Ms. Lam Ching Yee (an executive
Director), has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2023 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director)
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of one year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (both
days inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of one year
on the same term commencing on 1 January 2023 and ending
on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing
Sze BBS, JP, has entered into an appointment agreement with
the Company for a term of three years from 1 January 2021 to
31 December 2023 (both days inclusive), which is in compliance
with code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG
Code. By virtue of article 112 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board shall have the power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional Director
provided that the number of Directors so appointed shall not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time by
the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company.
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Pursuant to article 108(a) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and all such retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. Details of the Directors to be retired
by rotation and, where applicable, subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
contained in the circular to be despatched to the Shareholders
in due course. None of the Directors who are being proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company has a service contract or an appointment agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and
(2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year, in which
the Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing at least one-third of the Board. Among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Hon Ming Sang has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Company considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are or have remained independent.

Nomination policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”).
Such policy aims to improve transparency around the criteria and
procedure adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting
and recommending candidates as Directors and to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. Selection of candidates shall be based on a range
of criteria, including but not limited to, integrity and reputation,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that
are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, and
length of service. The Nomination Committee shall convene a
meeting to discuss and consider the recommendation of any
candidate to the Board for appointment, election or re-election as
a Director by the Board or at a general meeting of the Company.
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Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirements set out in the CG
Code. Such policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. The Company endeavours to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and to maximise the Board’s
effectiveness. Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based
on meritocracy and candidates shall be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates shall be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision shall be based on the merit and contribution the
selected candidates could bring to the Board. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Board shall review the Board Diversity Policy and its
implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis to ensure
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will continue to give adequate consideration to
these measurable objectives when making recommendations of
candidates for appointment to the Board.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report,
the Board comprised (i) five female members and two male
members; and (i) four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

Taking into account that the Board has a balanced mix of skill-
set, experience, and diversity which strengthens its decision-
making capability and the overall effectiveness of the Company
in achieving sustainable business operation and enhancing
shareholder value, the Company considers that the current
composition of the Board satisfies the principles set out in the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 2.2:1
male to female.
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Independent views policy

To ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Company has established a policy (“Independent
Views Policy”), under which the independent non-executive
Directors are required to, among others, bring independent
judgment to bear on the Company’s issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct, help review some of the Board’s
major decisions and the Company’s performance in relation to
corporate goals, monitor the Company’s performance reporting,
and take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise.
Further, the independent non-executive Directors must make
sufficient time available to discharge their responsibilities and
should not accept an invitation to serve as an independent
non-executive Director on the Board unless they can devote
adequate time and effort to the work involved. Independent non-
executive Directors sitting on multiple boards of directors of
listed companies will need to ensure that they devote sufficient
time and dedicate adequate attention to each board and board
committee.

Apart from regular board meetings which allow independent non-
executive Directors to express their views, the Chairman will
meeting the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of any other Director at least once a year to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. In
addition, the Company ensures that all the Directors (including
the independent non-executive Directors) will have access
to advice from external independent professionals, including
independent legal advisors, auditors and valuers, to assist the
Directors to perform their duties.

The Company is required to review the Independent Views Policy
and its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis. The
Company has reviewed the Independent Views Policy and its
implementation and effectiveness during the Year and considered
the results of such review satisfactory.

Dividend policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”).
Dividends may be paid out by way of cash or by other means
that the Directors consider appropriate. Declaration and payment
of any dividends would require the recommendation of the Board
and will be at its discretion. In addition, any final dividends for a
financial year will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.
A decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and
the amount of any dividends, depends on a number of factors,
including the results of operations and financial condition of
the Group, the payment by the Company’s subsidiaries of cash
dividends to the Company, and other factors the Board may
deem relevant. Declaration and payment of dividends by the
Company is subject to compliance with applicable laws and
regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
articles of association of the Company.
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The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

Chairman and chief executive officer

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the Year, the role of the Chairman was performed by Ms. Tin
Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), and the role
of the Chief Executive Officer was performed by Mr. Chan Wai
Lung. The Chairman is to provide leadership for the Board and
to ensure that the Board works effectively. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business. The positions of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer, are held by separate individuals so as to
maintain an effective segregation of duties.

Continuing professional development

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, each of the Directors received regular updates
and presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s
business and to the legislative and regulatory environments in
which the Group operates, and was also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses. During the Year, each of Ms. Tin Yat Yu
Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), Mr. Chan Wai Lung,
Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting, Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean, Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by
way of attending training or reading materials relevant to the
Group’s business, the GEM Listing Rules or directors’ duties, and
provided his or her training records to the Company on a yearly
basis.
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Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance and
indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of any legal action against the Directors
that may arise out of the corporate activities, so as to comply
with the CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1. Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company on 10 September 2013 with
written terms of reference posted on the websites of GEM
and of the Company. Such written terms of reference were
revised and adopted by the Board on 29 December 2015
in accordance with the revised CG Code taking effect on 1
January 2016. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are, among other matters, to review the Company'’s financial
information and to monitor the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze B8S, JP, and the
Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.

The Audit Committee reviewed the accounting standards
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with
the management about the internal control and financial
reporting matters for the Year. During the Year, the Audit
Committee also reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and internal
audit function. The Group’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual
results for the Year have also been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and that adequate disclosures had been made.

During the Year, 7 Audit Committee meetings were held and
the details of attendance of each Audit Committee member
are set out in the section headed “Attendance of Directors
at Meetings” on page 41 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
on 10 September 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with the CG Code which are posted on the
websites of GEM and of the Company. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are, among other matters,
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
terms of remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policy.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP,
and the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon
Ming Sang.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of
the Company, and reviewed and approved certain new
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s
corporate objectives and the prevailing market conditions,
assessed the performance of the executive Directors and
approved the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts.

During the Year, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings were
held and the details of attendance of each Remuneration
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 41 of this
annual report.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
10 September 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code which are posted on the websites of GEM and of the
Company. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are, among other matters, to formulate the Nomination
Policy and make recommendations to the Board on the
nomination and appointment of the Directors and the
succession planning for the Directors.
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During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Nomination Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze B8S, JP, and the
Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.

During the Year, 1 Nomination Committee meeting was held
and details of attendance of each Nomination Committee
member are set out in the section headed “Attendance of
Directors at Meetings” on page 41 of this annual report.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board,
the existing Board Diversity Policy and its implementation,
assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and reviewed the annual confirmations
of independence received from them. The Nomination
Committee also reviewed the nomination procedures,
process and criteria to select and recommend candidates
for directorship and made recommendations on the
nomination and appointment of new Directors.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee
(“Compliance Committee”) of the Company on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference which are
posted on the websites of GEM and of the Company.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Compliance Committee comprised two executive Directors,
namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee (chairman) and Ms. Lin Ting.
The principal duties of the Compliance Committee include:

o to establish, execute and maintain the compliance and
corporate governance system of the Group;

° to support and provide instructions to ensure that each
business unit of the Group can establish, execute and
maintain its compliance and corporate governance
system;

° to produce the compliance manual of the Group and
keep it updated;

° to conduct education and training programmes on
compliance for the Group, including compliance
seminars;

o to monitor the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group; and
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° to investigate compliance problems of the Group and
take appropriate measures when one arises (it may
instruct the relevant department(s) to deal with the
problem depending on its nature).

During the Year, the members of the Compliance Committee
monitored the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group from time to time, and
the Compliance Committee was of the view that there
was no compliance issue of the Group which required the
Compliance Committee to resolve by way of a meeting.
Therefore, no meeting of the Compliance Committee was
held during the Year.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT
MEETINGS

e BEFAEESHRBERNHRESRM

28 B PR 2 HE T (

e

BECHNIELE

HPIZEEERERE) -

REN EREEENECTIHEERER
ERREEEAFENR T MEREES

BREEEFTFEFTHGREE TN

HRBANGREBE-ALL 5REEFN
FRLESTENEZ

EFLEEERER

Number of meetings attended/entitled to attend

L/ HREEEERY

Remuneration Nomination

Annual Extraordinary Audit Committee Committee Committee

general meeting  general meeting  Board meetings meetings meetings meetings

Directors Bz BRBEAE RRFIAE BEZgeE ENZEeeR §FHzEees ReZEged

Executive Directors RTES

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol Bzt il NATEHR 12113 NARER N/ATER N/ATER

Mr. Chan Wai Lung BRERERE 1 NATER 13/13 NATEH NATER NARER

Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEELL il NATEH 10113 NARER N/ATER N/ATER

Ms. Lin Ting HELL 01 NARESR 913 NARER NARER NATER
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUEHITES

Mr. Hon Ming Sang BRERE 1/1 NATEH 13/13 7 22 11

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FHALL 11 NATEH 10413 n 2/2 11

Ms. Lo Wing Sze 885 s Biksu tosmest et 11 NARBR 10/13 5/7 2/2 1/1
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors
are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
RSM Hong Kong, are set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 66 to 72 of this annual report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s
external auditor for the audit and non-audit services provided
amounted to HK$950,000 and HK$100,000 respectively.
The non-audit services comprised fees for the agreed upon
procedures services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance
committee. According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties
and responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company:

o to develop and review the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

The Board reviewed the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code,
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements during the Year as well as the disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on
an ongoing basis. The main features of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group include the identification,
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development
and continuous updating of mitigation measures, and the
ongoing review of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. The Group has also established an organisational
structure in such control systems, clearly defining the power and
obligations of each department in the Group, in order to protect
the Group’s assets against improper use and ensure compliance
with rules and regulations. Such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company has an internal control manual containing policies
on information disclosure which is applicable to all employees of
the Company and regularly reminds Directors and employees to
properly comply with relevant policies on inside information while
notifying the Directors (who are also the senior management of
the Group) and employees the latest guidance announced by the
regulatory body on disclosure of such information from time to
time to keep all of them abreast of the latest information.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group’s risk management process involves the identification,
evaluation, response, monitoring and reporting of risks. After
risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and
operations are identified by the management of the Company,
the Board will perform risk assessment by prioritising the
identified risks to determine key risks exposed to the Group and
discuss measures to mitigate such key risks. Besides, existing
risk mitigation measures are subject to regular monitoring by
the management of the Company, which will review the Group’s
risk management strategies, and report such results and make
appropriate suggestions to the Board.

The Board has in place an internal audit function within the
Group as required under code provision D.2.5 of the CG code.
The Group conducts review of the risk management and internal
control systems on annual basis. During the Year, to strengthen
the risk management and internal control of the Group, the
Company has engaged an independent professional adviser
(“Internal Control Adviser”) to perform independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of certain subsidiary’s risk
management and internal control system for the Year. The
scope of review for the Year included investment cycle as
well as revenue cycle of a principal operating subsidiary. The
Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings and areas
for improvement to the Audit Committee. All recommendations
from the Internal Control Adviser would be followed up closely
to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable period
of time. The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate and that nothing has come to its attention to cause
the Board to believe the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are inadequate. The Board has also considered
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices
are very important for maintaining and promoting investor
confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group has therefore made continued efforts to uplift the quality
of its corporate governance.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
with objective of ensuring that the Shareholders, the potential
investors and the investment community (collectively, “Investors”)
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Group, which will
enable the Shareholders and the Investors to make the informed
investment decisions.

In line with the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy,
the Company communicates with the Shareholders and Investors
of the Company mainly in the following ways:

(@) the holding of annual general meetings and extraordinary
general meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific
purposes and provide opportunities for the Shareholders
and the Investors to communicate directly with the Board;

(b) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports,
circulars, announcements and notices of Shareholders’
meetings as required under the GEM Listing Rules and/
or press releases of the Company providing updated
information of the Group; and

(c) the provision of the latest information of the Group on the
websites of GEM and of the Company.

Pursuant to article 65 of the articles of association of the
Company, the annual general meetings or extraordinary general
meetings of the Company called for the passing of a special
resolution shall be called by at least 21 days’ notice in writing.
The meetings of the Company other than an annual general
meeting or an extraordinary general meeting for the passing of
a special resolution shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in
writing.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its shareholders’ communication policy during the Year. The
Company convened one shareholders’ meeting held on 23
June 2022 (“2022 AGM”), which allowed the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors at the 2022 AGM. In
addition, information relating to the Company, including quarterly,
interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars and poll
results of the 2022 AGM, as well as notice of the 2022 AGM
have been published or sent to the Shareholders in accordance
with the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year, which allow the Shareholders and the Investors to have
ready, equal and timely access to the information of the Group.
In view of the above, the Company considered its shareholders’
communication policy to be effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company, any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
requisition in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for sending enquiries and proposals
to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and/or put forward
proposals to the Company, for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, by posting the same to Unit 708, 7th Floor,
Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Chan Ka Yu, the former Company Secretary,
resigned as the Company Secretary with effect from 15 August
2022. Following the resignation of Mr. Chan Ka Yu, Mr. Tam Yip
Sun was appointed by the Board as the Company Secretary with
effect from 15 August 2022. Following the resignation of Mr. Tam
Yip Sun, Mr. Yu Kwan Nam Gabriel has been appointed by the
Board as the Company Secretary with effect from 13 January
2023. Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Tam Yip Sun undertook not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update their
skills and knowledge during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change to the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) (EH—
FoaIERFEARABE), aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director on 5 May 2020 and the Chairman on 19 May 2020.

Ms. Tin obtained a degree of doctor of business administration
honoris causa from the International American University in March
2009. Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur operating businesses including
money lending business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also
has extensive experience in trading business in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (“Carnival”’, formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code: 996) for the period from September 2005 to August
2011. Ms. Tin also served as the chairperson of Carnival from
November 2006 to August 2011 and was responsible for the
overall strategic planning and policy making. Ms. Tin served as
a director of Yan Oi Tong from 2017 to 2018. She has been an
executive director of Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code: 1520) since October 2019 and its chairman from
January 2021 to January 2022. Ms. Tin is currently a director of
Delta Wealth Finance Limited and Delta Wealth Credit Limited.
She has been appointed as an executive director and a member
of the investment committee of InvesTech Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code: 1087) since April 2022.

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (FBRf£8E), aged 42, was appointed as an
executive Director on 8 June 2017 and the Chief Executive
Officer on 9 December 2021.

Mr. Chan has years of experience in business planning and
development. Mr. Chan has been a director of Draco International
Investment (Holdings) Limited (specialising in designing corporate
structures) since July 2013, and a director of Draco Human
Resources Management Limited since November 2016. Mr.
Chan was a non-executive director of Noble Engineering Group
Holdings Limited (“Noble Engineering”, a company listed on GEM
with Stock Code: 8445) from August 2018 to January 2020.

Mr. Chan was appointed as a business development consultant
(2 ™ B2 B9 )by the Management Committee of the Haining
Economic Development Zone, Zhejiang Province, the PRC in April
2017. In October 2017, he obtained his Honorary Doctorate in
Business Administration from Sabi University. In November 2019,
Mr. Chan completed a postdoctoral research project at California
State University Monterey Bay.
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Ms. Lam Ching Yee (#4&8f&), aged 41, was appointed as an
executive Director on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration
(Honours) in Finance from the City University of Hong Kong
in 2006. Ms. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. From September 2013 to June
2019, Ms. Lam was the financial controller of Hang Tai Yue Group
Holdings Limited (“HTY Group”, a company listed on GEM with
Stock Code: 8081), whose interest in the shares of the Company
falls to be disclosed under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO. She has been an executive director and the
chief executive officer of HTY Group since June 2019. Ms. Lam
has more than ten years of experience in the areas of corporate
restructuring, financial management, merger and acquisition and
auditing.

Ms. Lin Ting (#%28), aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lin graduated from Shanghai University of Engineering
Science ((EE TI2H T AE) with a Bachelor degree in Industrial
Enterprise Management in 1992. She also obtained a Master
degree in Technology Management in Information Technology
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
2004.

Ms. Lin was qualified as a project management professional
by the Project Management Institute in March 2014 Ms. Lin
joined the China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (FEIEEMZEBEL
&) in August 1998 and has served as deputy general manager
of the business development department since March 2009.
She then joined Eastern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd. GEHZEY)
MBRAE))In November 2012 as the general manager of the
information department. Ms. Lin then served as general manager
in the logistics product department of China Eastern Airlines
Co., Ltd.(FEEAMZERHBERAE), a joint stock limited
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose
H shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 670),
A shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600115) and American depositary shares are listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., and the holding company
of Eastern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd., from April 2013 to June
2015. From 7 December 2015 to 22 June 2016, Ms. Lin was an
independent non-executive director of HTY Group whose interest
in the shares of the Company falls to be disclosed under the
provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO. Ms. Lin
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director
of UJU Holding Limited (“UJU Holding”, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1948)
since October 2021. She has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director and a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee, remuneration committee and
risk management committee of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
Stock code: 1115) since July 2022.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Hon Ming Sang( &8 % 4 ), aged 44, committee member
of the 11st Luoding Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 24
June 2020.

Mr. Hon graduated with an honor degree of Professional
Accountancy in the School of Accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Hon is a CFA charterholder. He is
also a member of the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts,
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute. Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international
audit firm and has over 14 years of working experience in listed
companies and financial institutions. He has extensive experience
in corporate finance, merger and acquisition, investment and
financial management and compliance services.

Mr. Hon had been an independent non-executive director of
SFund International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1367, listing
of which was cancelled on 20 September 2022) (“SFund”) from
November 2016 to February 2017 and was re-designated as its
executive director from February 2017 to August 2022. He had
also been appointed as SFund’s company secretary, authorized
representative and process agent from July 2017 to August
2022.

Mr. Hon has been an independent non-executive director of
Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1520)
since November 2016. Mr. Hon has been an independent non-
executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code: 351) since November 2020. Mr. Hon has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member
of each of the audit committee and the investment committee,
and the chairman of each of the compensation and benefits
committee and the nomination committee of InvesTech Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 1087) with effect from 31 January
2023.

Mr. Hon has been appointed as the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of China Gas Industry Investment Holdings
Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 1940) since August 2022 and
October 2022.
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Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean(ZE%4%]]), aged 62, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 10 September 2013.

Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
(Executive) at the City University of Hong Kong in October 2014.
Ms. Lee also obtained her Doctor of Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

From December 2006 to October 2012, Ms. Lee worked for King
Fook Holdings Limited and her last position was director of sales
and brand development, Greater China. From October 2012
to January 2015, Ms. Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong
Limited as a retail director. Ms. Lee was a director of Yan Oi
Tong, a registered non-profit charitable organisation, from 2010
to 2014 and from 2017 to the present.

Ms. Lee has been an independent non-executive director of
China Brilliant Global Limited (a company listed on GEM with
Stock Code: 8026) since February 2018.

Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP (BBiKsF H74HES, X F#1L), aged 51,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 21 August 2020.

Ms. Lo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Economics from
the University of Sydney in Australia in 1995 and obtained a
degree of Master of Commerce in Finance from the University
of New South Wales in Australia in 1997. Ms. Lo is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a certified practicing accountant of CPA
Australia. She was appointed as a Justice of the Peace and
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in June
2017 and October 2020 respectively. Ms. Lo has been an
Honorary Court Member of Lingnan University since June 2020.
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Ms. Lo has been a financial director of Million Tour Limited
since 1999. Ms. Lo has been a member of HKSAR Advisory
Committee on Admission of Quality Migrants and Professionals
since July 2018. Ms. Lo was a member of HKSAR Social Welfare
Advisory Committee from December 2015 to December 2021, a
co-opted member of the finance and management working group
of HKSAR Chinese Temples Committee from October 2015 to
September 2021 and a member of HKSAR Museum Advisory
Committee from October 2016 to October 2022. Ms. Lo served
as council member of Lingnan University form October 2015
to September 2019 and was appointed as the treasurer of the
Council of Lingnan University from November 2018 to September
2019. Ms. Lo was an award council member of the Hong Kong
Award for Young People from February 2014 to January 2018
and a member of HKSAR Non-local Higher and Professional
Education Appeal Board from December 2016 to December
2019. Ms. Lo has been an independent non-executive director
of Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code:
1520) since January 2021. Ms. Lo has also been appointed as
a member of Social Workers Registration Board since January
2022, a member of HKSAR Advisory Committee on Post-
office Employment for Former Chief Executives and Politically
Appointed Officials since July 2021 and a member of HKSAR
Wan Chai District Fire Safety Committee since April 2021.
Ms. Lo has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee of New World
Development Company Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 0017) with effect
from December 2022.

Ms. Lo has been a member of the Election Committee 2021 of
the HKSAR (The Fourth Sector) since October 2021 and she was
a member of the Election Committee for the Fifth Government of
the HKSAR from February 2017 to October 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board herewith presents the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial
trading software solutions, provision of other IT and internet
financial platforms services, money lending business and assets
investments in Hong Kong. One of the subsidiaries of the
Company, a holder of the Type 6 License under the SFO, which
did not carry on any business, surrendered its Type 6 License
to the SFC, the process of which was completed in April 2022.
Details of the principal activities and other particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group and an indication of the likely future developments in the
Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 30 of this annual report. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 73 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2021: Nil).

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes
are set out on page 4 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the
Year or subsisting at the end of the Year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Scheme”) on 10
September 2013 so as to attract and retain the best available
personnel and to provide additional incentive to the eligible
participants under the Scheme. Pursuant to the Scheme, the
Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion and subject to
the terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the
ordinary shares of the Company (in such form then existing
and subject to adjustment) to any employees (full-time or part-
time), directors, consultants or advisors of the Group, or any
substantial shareholders of the Group, or any distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners
or service providers of the Group. Following the amendments
to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules which took effect on
1 January 2023, the Group will only grant options to such eligible
participants which are permitted under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on 10 September 2013 and expiring on the
business day immediately preceding the 10th anniversary thereof,
i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early termination provisions
contained in the Scheme.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer is made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.
The subscription price of a share of the Company in respect of
any particular option granted under the Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the ordinary
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of an ordinary
share of the Company on the date of grant of the option.
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The total number of ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue on the listing date of the Company, being
26 September 2013. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the Shareholders’ approval and issue of a
circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that
the total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of the
Company does not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company
in issue from time to time. The total number of ordinary shares
of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the ordinary shares of
the Company then in issue unless approved by the Shareholders
and issue of a circular and all other information in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules.

The number of options available for grant under the existing
Scheme limit as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 and
the maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted
under the existing Scheme limit (which has been adjusted upon
the share consolidation becoming effective on 25 June 2021) is
12,605,823 shares of HK$0.05 each, representing approximately
10% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date
of this annual report. As at the date of this annual report, no
option carrying the rights to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company has been granted under the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject
to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Save for the Scheme as disclosed in the paragraphs headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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Details of the movements in the share options of the Company

pursuant to the Scheme during the Year are as follows:

RERNERBDREZAB ZBEREZHFEH
FR:

Number of share options

FEREHAE
Outstanding
Date of grant and Exercise price of At as at
Name or category of vesting date of Exercise period of share options 1January  Granted during Lapsed during 31 December
participants share options share options granted  (HK$ per share) 2022 the Year the Year 2022
RZE_Z
FERR IR A H R MREZITER S +ZA=+—H
SHEERL R BEAS BRI 2 1TiEH (BRR#ET) —B—H REREEH RERKY HRITHE
Executive Director
HITER
Tin Yat Yu Carol 10 December 2020 10 December 2020- 0.49 126,000 - (126,000) -
9 December 2022
B4 “ZTEFE+-A+R  ZE-EFE+-ATHE
—Z-__F#+”RAhR
Employee 10 December 2020 10 December 2020- 0.49 1,260,000 - (1,260,000) -
9 December 2022
=31 ZZ-2F+ZA+H ZEEH+”°A+ABE
—F__#+ZRAA
Other participants (note (b)) 10 December 2020 10 December 2020- 0.49 7,430,000 - (7,430,000) -
9 December 2022
Hth28E (/2 (b)) ZEEF+-RA+E ZEZEE+°RA+BEE
—F__#+ZRAR
8,816,000 - (8,816,000) -
Notes: Hisz:

(a) Consideration of HK$1 was paid by each of the grantees on
their acceptance of the share options granted.

(b)  Other participants refer to six consultants of the Group, all of whom
assist the Group in formulating business development plans and
expanding its business development by referring customers, business
partners, investment opportunities and business opportunities to the
Group. Share options were granted to the consultants of the Group as
incentives to them for helping the Group to expand its business network,

acquire and explore new business projects and opportunities.

During the Year, save as disclosed above, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. Further details of
the Scheme are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial

statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS
AND WARRANTS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had granted or
issued any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar

rights during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 76 of this annual
report and in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves available for distribution
of the Company during the Year are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had reserves amounting
to approximately HK$37,511,000 (2021: approximately
HK$32,143,000) available for distribution as calculated in
accordance with the statutory provisions applicable in the
Cayman lIslands.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$41,000 (2021: approximately HK$70,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol)
(Chairman)

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Lam Ching Yee

Ms. Lin Ting

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Hon Ming Sang
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there were
changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules in the course of the term of office of a Director.

Mr. Hon Ming Sang, an independent non-executive Director,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
a member of each of the audit committee and the investment
committee, and the chairman of each of the compensation and
benefits committee and the nomination committee of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1087) with effect from 31
January 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin
Carol) (an executive Director and the Chairman), Mr. Chan Wai
Lung (an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer) and
Ms. Lam Ching Yee (an executive Director) has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).
Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director) has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2022 and has been re-appointed for a
term of one year commencing on 1 January 2023 and ending on
31 December 2023 (both days inclusive). Each of Mr. Hon Ming
Sang (an independent non-executive Director), Ms. Lee Kwun
Ling, May Jean (an independent non-executive Director) and Ms.
Lo Wing Sze B8S, Jp (an independent non-executive Director) has
entered into an appointment agreement with the Company for a
term of three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
(both days inclusive).

All service contracts and appointment agreements with Directors
are subject to termination, among others, by giving not less than
one month’s written notice.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS
AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH THE
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in note 15
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES BY THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” on pages 53 to 55 of this annual report, none of the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered into the register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant
to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EFREBITHRABRKRG 8RR
R RARHER R B ik

N B _F+_R=t+—R EFHArTE
ETBAERARBDREEAREBER (EER
BHERAERGISE XV &8F) B M BRI D RE
BET A () REBEZSRMEMEMISE 352 1%
AE RN ZIRFIIENE M A 2 (i) R1% GEM
LA 5.46 £ 5.67 RAN & XA F) S b
RSB T

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

as at

Number of 31 December

Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest shares interested 2022
)

AR +=ZBA=+—H

EELE 817 #EtE RHEE AT DL

(note (a)) (note (b))

(Hizt(a) (H1z# b))

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol Beneficial owner 36,467,000(L) 28.93

H—iFz+ BmEAA
Notes:
(@  “L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares of the Company.

(b)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2022 (i.e. 126,058,234 shares) has been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
(i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the
register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2022,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:
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FERRKREMA LRI IR
AP R R E

AL (LFEEREARTEETHAR) EF
RERORAEBRNPESNESERBRE
BERAEREGIE 336 R BN AR FEN
SR maa:

Other person HAL
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
as at
Number of 31 December
Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest shares interested 2022
LSt -
BHEEN +=ZB=+—H
RERLTE 8319, #EmtE RHEE REMAT DL
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Hizt(a) (K152 b))
Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo Beneficial owner 6,168,000(L) 4.89
7585 BomEAA
Interest of a controlled corporation 600,000(L) 0.48
(note (c))
RERIEE#ER (13t (c)
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Notes:
(@  “L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares of the Company.

(b)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2022 (i.e. 126,058,234 shares) has been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the Company.

(c)  These 600,000 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Woodstock
Management Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung
Ringo. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo is deemed or
taken to be interested in all the ordinary shares of the Company held by
Woodstock Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (not being a Director or
the chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 47 to 51 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) to which the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director (as defined under section 486 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Company considers that the independent non-executive
Directors are or have remained independent.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, an executive Director, also being an
executive director and the chief executive officer of HTY Group
(a substantial Shareholder), is a director of a subsidiary of HTY
Group, i.e. Mark Profit Finance Limited (which is a company
principally engaged in money lending business in Hong Kong)
and other subsidiaries of HTY Group, which are principally
engaged in assets investments business.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), an
executive Director, is also a director of Delta Wealth Finance
Limited and Delta Wealth Credit Limited, which are principally
engaged in money lending business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates as defined in the GEM Listing Rules had any
business or interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year. As at 31 December 2022, the Company
did not have any controlling Shareholder.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group as at
31 December 2022 are set out in note 15(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the top five customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 22.7% (2021: approximately 19.3%) in
aggregate of the Group’s consolidated revenue. The top five
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 89.8% (2021:
approximately 94.8%) in aggregate of the Group’s consolidated
cost of sales (excluding direct staff cost) for the Year. In addition,
the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
7.2% (2021: approximately 4.9%) of the Group’s consolidated
revenue and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 44.6% (2021: approximately 41.6%) of the Group’s
consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct staff cost) for the
Year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their close associates or any Shareholders (who, to the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) were interested in these major
customers or suppliers of the Group during the Year.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has a diversified customer base with over 100
customers mainly from Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and
Singapore. In order to maintain relationships with customers,
various means have been established to strengthen the
communications between the customers and the Group to
improve and expand the Group’s provision of customer service.
In addition, the Group will continue expanding its sales and
marketing team to proactively manage customer relations,
expand its customer base and enhance customer loyalty.

The Group does not have any supplier of goods or services
which is specific to the Group’s business and which is required
by the Group on a regular basis to enable the Group to continue
to supply or serve its customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Human resources are the most valuable asset of the Group.
Developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success.
The Group is committed to providing its employees with a safe,
pleasant and healthy working environment. The Group rewards
and recognises its employees by competitive remuneration
packages and implements a key performance index scheme with
appropriate incentives, and promotes career development and
progression by providing opportunities for career advancement.

In addition, each department of the Group is responsible for
determining the training needs for its employees in its department
and any suggested applicable training courses either arranged
internally or provided by external service providers shall be
submitted to the senior management of the Group for approval.
Knowledge, skills and capacities of employees are vital to the
continuous business growth and success of the Group. The
Group strives to ensure that all employees will fulfill the relevant
job requirements through education, training, technical and work
experience.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 13 January 2023, Golden Spade Investment Limited (“Golden
Spade”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and SBI China Capital Financial Services Limited entered into
a placing letter pursuant to which Golden Spade has agreed to
subscribe for 8,000,000 shares in Tibet Water Resources Ltd.
(“TWRL”, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 1115) at an aggregate consideration
(excluding transaction costs) of HK$3,080,000. Completion of the
above subscription took place in January 2023. Further details
of the above subscription are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 January 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant subsequent
event after the Year.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements constituted fully
exempted connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules while the related party transaction
of the Group as set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements did not constitute connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules then in force during the Year. Details
of the Group’s corporate governance practices adopted by the
Board are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
31 to 46 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float required by
the GEM Listing Rules during the Year and as at the date of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 182 to 183 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCES

The Group is committed to reducing its impacts on the
environment and enhancing the quality and safety of its working
environment. The Group aims to reduce emissions and use
of resources in its operation through various environmental
protection measures, including using electrical appliances with
energy efficient labels, encouraging its employees to minimise
use of resources such as electricity and water, and promoting the
use of electronic communication and recycled papers among its
employees.

The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the Year is published at the same time as the publication of
this annual report and is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company accordingly.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHRST

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risk of non-compliance
with relevant requirements could lead to adverse impact on the
business operation and financial position of the Group. The Board
as a whole is responsible to ensure the Group is in compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group
has complied with relevant laws and regulations during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
its Directors arising out of corporate activities. During the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’
Report) Regulation (Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was
and is currently in force for the benefit of the Directors and the
directors of the Group’s subsidiaries.

AUDITOR

With effect from 25 November 2020, PKF Hong Kong Limited
has resigned as the auditor of the Company as the Company
was unable to reach an agreement with PKF Hong Kong Limited
on the auditor’s remuneration for the financial year ended 31
December 2020. Following the resignation of PKF Hong Kong
Limited, RSM Hong Kong has been appointed as the new auditor
of the Company.

RSM Hong Kong, the auditor of the Company, shall retire in the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment pursuant to article
176(a) of the articles of association of the Company. A resolution
will be submitted to the coming annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint RSM Hong Kong as the auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tin Yat Yu Carol
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

B THERERRER

AEEFRPAETEERTENEEN R T ETHE
FREEHAIEREXFEBERMBRTHRT
NREZRR - EFSERaERREAERET
HEAEREEARZEZHAERLER-LES
FRIRA RERN AEE-—BEETHRBAERKZE
e

ST RIMIEIRSC

KRB EMHESAATEERACETHES
ZEBRTH REFRTHRAEBZEEFEEZ
BRRZH-REAREEFFEFRBH HEFR
AEBENRBRABDESFON mMmIFHZ EESF
BEEX(EXZREBENE 622D B E (B
FEWE)MOAE K BERREER-

(T

HRARBBERRERER(B5B) G5tE
BRERABAMBE_E_EF+_A=+—
HiIEMEEZ BN E G BRER
SR (BB G EBRERRANELRE
REM B _EF+—A - +hABEN-
ERERBR (R GstNEHAAERIT 6T
TR BREEMNEBREZERE AT ML
ZiEme

REALBDEMERZMAE 176(a) 1F> AR H
ZYMEREGHMEBARN AR EER
REFAELREUTEERKBEEERER
ERBBEREGHMEBMAA AT R
HARABRERRNERDAREBMANRREERE
HRZ-

REREFE

T
H—4F

E8 _E_=ZF£=ZA_+WlH



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

FINSOFT FINANCIAL INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 181, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirement
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 MRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These IHE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FREZER
MRBLEEANES L SRENETS HELSE

BABZREMBEREEREEZNFE-ZESR
TESEREEGEMBRRAHASREE
TREN BEETEHZEFREHBEBENER
SERTHER 2 RIREIZE AR

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters. The key audit matter we identified is:

Key Audit Matter
RAREZEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EERBRPHMABERBEZEESR

Impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables from money lending business

EEEHZ RINERKRF S 2 HETL

Refer to note 5(a)(i), 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

WiR GBI RMEES(@))

5(0)(), 6(c),

FH2R 5(b)(i)~6(c) %2 30°

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross loan
and interest receivables from customers amounting
to approximately HK$93,960,000 and HK$4,101,000
respectively. Provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables were approximately HK$56,385,000 and
HK$2,399,000 respectively as at 31 December 2022.

R ZEZHFFZRA=+—H BEEZERERERR
F S ARZED 49 7593,960,00078 7T 24,101,0008 0o R =&
_THEFT A=+ B RRERENEREREEDNNR
56,385,000 7T 522,399,000 T °

Management assessed the provision for impairment of
loan and interest receivables based on the estimation
of expected credit losses (“ECL”) under a “three-stage”
model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and
interest receivables, management uses judgement in
making the assumptions about the probability of default
and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loan portfolio, credit rating of
customers and current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors.
EEERBEI=BEBIEATNRAEEHE (BHREES
%aJ)TEnJr’fiéﬁ'ﬁnMEﬁEH B A R ER E - N EERWE

A BB REER SEEASEEREE ZBEERLL
$ BERZEEIRREBARERERRZRAE RAIETE
Eh IR RN R RENBIERREEIERFIE-
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Our procedures included:

BEZEFEE:

- Understanding and evaluating control over
impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables, which included the management’s
identification of events that triggered the significant
increase in credit risk of loan and interest receivables
and events of default;

- TERESHMEHEBWER R BRETE 2T e
EEEBHNEERNERKRANEEERBRBEIEMNZ
EHRENSHNER;

—  Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes, susceptibility to
management bias of fraud;

- BEZEEFTREMNEEREMESRBRERRK
TN FEE B LR TEBRERERRITR
) L E A N E KIS SRR R ;

- Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables to access the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

- FHMEEWERR B ZRESHERTER ST EAE R ) LT
HEREGBENENL;

- Carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test
the existence and accuracy of the aging of loan and
interest receivables as at the reporting date;

- HEEIITER LUAER RS H R EN R B iREL
ZEEIE R IEREN;

- Involving our internal valuation specialist to review
the valuation methodology and approach adopted by
management in ECL assessment;

- ZHEEANNLEERBREEENBRESRET
EFPRAZEET ERF



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
FREZSEE

B2 MRS

FREZFEE (B)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBRPHEAREREEZRESN

Impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables from money lending business (Continued)

BEER 2 BNERRFE ZRETE (&)

We identified the recoverability of loan and interest
receivables from money lending business as a key audit
matter because determining the provision for impairment
of these receivables involves significant management’s
estimation and judgement.
EEREBEBZRNENRA B Z o] kB # 5 RS
ZEB AREELERRREBEREREIREEEZEX
EEpsEal-it

Our procedures included: (Continued)

BEEZEFEE @

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key
assumptions, such as collateral values, historical
delinquency ratio, credit rating of customers used in
assessing the ECL based on market economic data;
RIETHEE BT EAR T EEREESEEEER
RZBEEM IR REE BTHALER- TR EE
TR

Re-performing management’s calculation of loss
allowance under ECL model; and
BEMATEEENRREERBRA TEIBEE 25t
Hik

Considering the adequacy of impairment of loan and
interest receivables with reference to the payment
performance and financial condition of customers
and collaterals held by the Group, if any and other
relevant factors.

ZRENEFRERAESREESTEN BEF2EERZIE
MRBEEMBRAR BEEFAEZIERR (WA) U
K HABRAE 2= -

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH

68



69

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EM RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

B2 MRS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EM RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Wo Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 MECE T F+B=1+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—=E_C T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
biaE F#ET FET
Revenue g 8 60,823 66,642
Cost of sales THE i As (19,845) (19,998)
Gross profit EF 40,978 46,644
Other income EAMUWA 9 1,706 78
Other losses HithEsia 10 (9,490) (1,022)
Loan receivables written off FEUR & Zritias - (1,515)
Provision for impairment loss on loan and EWER A S8
interest receivables HEBEEE (749) (13,265)
Provision for impairment loss on goodwill 8 BBV ER R - (6,726)
Fair value change on contingent (FEY) /FE(S S ARER
consideration (receivable)/payable NEEEES 1,162 6,203
Provision for impairment loss on contingent FEUR S A BB RE R 1B 5
consideration receivable (367) -
Administrative expenses TRz (58,743) (54,145)
Loss from operations EERE (25,503) (23,748)
Finance costs E?%EEZF ) 12 (592) (640)
Share of losses of associates FEEEEABEE 26 (361) (105)
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—BaE R FEE 25 9) (7)
Loss before tax PRI AIES1E (26,465) (24,500)
Income tax expense FTiSfRBEsZ 13 (1,101) (1,827)
Loss for the year FAEE 14 (27,566) (26,327)
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMBEUA HIRRE:
net of tax:
Item that will not be reclassified to T BERN D IEEIRm B .
profit or loss: \
Fair value changes on equity instruments BATEESFAREMER
at fair value through other comprehensive WA (HZAFEESA
income (“FVTOCI’) Hftz2EB AN Z
BATENA T EEEES (794) (2,861)
Other comprehensive income for the year, F£REMEEWA HIRIRIE
net of tax (794) (2,861)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREHEIIALEEE (28,360) (29,188)
Loss for the year attributable to: FE L ERESIE:
Owners of the Company PiN/NETEZZ= DN (27,156) (24,950)
Non-controlling interests JEEER (410) (1,377)
(27,566) (26,327)
Total comprehensive income for the year B EREEURALELE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PiN/NETEZZ= DN (27,950) (27,811)
Non-controlling interests JEER (410) (1,377)
(28,360) (29,188)
Loss per share SREE 18
Basic (HK cents per share) HAE (BREW) (21.54) (19.79)
Diluted (HK cents per share) 58 (R BW) (21.54) (19.79)

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EAEMBIRRR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 R & - —F+_H=+—H

2022 2021
== T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
et FAT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB R E 19 2,584 1,185
Investment properties KREYE 20 2,600 -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 21 8,897 14,502
Goodwill G 22 - —
Intangible assets BLEE 23 - -
Investment in a joint venture R—EEaEABZEE 25 93 102
Investments in associates REE R B ZRE 26 276 1,397
Financial assets at FVTOCI BN EESAREM
EEBRAZEREE 27 364 1,158
Contingent consideration receivable FEUN SR IRTCE 36 - 6,182
Loan and interest receivables FEWE =R B FI B 30 2,718 -
Deferred tax assets IFIEIRTEE & 35 148 245
17,680 24,771
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 KR EAE RIS 28 8,764 11,662
Contract assets SHREE 29 601 330
Loan and interest receivables FEWE R AFIE 30 36,559 52,642
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEAER (EAF
profit or loss (“FVTPL”") BEABR) ZEMEE 31 5,303 10,619
Current tax assets BNEARIEE 797 1,914
Contingent consideration receivable FEW SRR (E 36 6,977 /
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 32 26,945 37,544
85,946 114,711
Current liabilities RENEE
Contract liabilities GH8E 29 9,956 11,365
Accruals and other payables fESt & R A AE (I RIB 33 21,023 21,532
Lease liabilities HEaE 34 6,871 7,637
37,850 40,534
Net current assets REMEEFE 48,096 74477
Total assets less current liabilities BEEEERTESEE 65,776 98,948
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RAEMBIKRR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 R _ZE__&#+_H=+—H

2022 2021
== T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE FAT FET
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEard 34 2,201 7,013
Deferred tax liabilities FIETRIEE A 35 72 72
2,273 7,085
NET ASSETS BEFE 63,503 91,863
Capital and reserves AR ks
Share capital %N 37 6,303 6,303
Reserves M 39 59,525 87,475
65,828 93,778
Non-controlling interests JEVERG = (2,325) (1,915)
TOTAL EQUITY T 4AEE 63,503 91,863

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—%F
Director

EBF
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A BT ZFZA -+ IUHBEEESH A T
BUTALTREBEE:

Chan Wai Lung
FR1EHE

Director



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o = .\.
5254

n\7|' I:I E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BER

FAFREAES
Financial
assets
Share measured Non-
Share Share options Merger FVTOCI  Accumulated controlling Total
Capital Premium reserve Reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests Equity
BATER
SARMEE
WAZ &R
[z BiVEE FRRERE BlfikE  EEZRE Z:ER It JEEREE  ERSH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TAn T#Ew TEr TERT TEx TERT TEw TEx TEr
Note 390b)f) Note 390)fi)  Note 39b)fii)  Note 39b)iy)
st 39y FsE 39m)fi) - Mt 39l A 39l
At 1 January 2021 WZE--—5-F-8H 6,303 229,281 1,858 78 (34,566) (81,365 121,589 (538) 121,051
Transfer upon redemption of BORATEEFAEMZEA
financial assets at FVTOCI WAZ £HEEREE - - - - 268 (268) - - -
Share options lapsed BRI B - - (245) - - 245 - - -
Total comprehensive income FR2EHRALE
for the year - - - - (2,861) (24950)  (27,811) (1877)  (29,188)
Changes in equity for the year ~ EREREE) - - (245) - (2,593) (4973 (27,811) (1,377)  (29,188)
At 31 December 2021 and RZE_-F+ZA=1+-H
1 January 2022 R-B__%-F-H 6,303 229,281 1,613 78 (37,159) (106,338) 93,778 (1,915) 91,863
Share options lapsed By BRE - - (1,613) - - 1,613 - - -
Total comprehensive income ~ ERRERALE
for the year - = = S (794) (27,156)  (27,950) (410)  (28,360)
Changes in equity for the year ERIERFEH = - (1,613) - (794) (25,543)  (27,950) (410)  (28,360)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z#+-B=+-H 6,303 229,281 = 78 (37,953) (131,881) 65,828 (2,325 63,503

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

2022 2021
=== BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBFENIRERE
Loss before tax PRISAIES 18 (26,465) (24,500)
Adjustments for: PN IEREE
Interest income B U (3) @)
Finance costs BIFE A AN 592 640
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment EN & i Ei = 658 754
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 7,889 6,865
Fair value change on contingent consideration FEH&) S EASRAREZ
(receivable)/payable NEEEED (1,162) (6,203)
Provision for impairment loss on contingent FEUR SR BRI E R IB R
consideration receivable 367 -
Net fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL AT EEFTAERZ SR
BEZ AT EBERETFE 6,756 928
Provision for impairment loss on goodwill EEN R ERIERE - 6,726
Provision for impairment loss on trade receivables BN IER R EEEEE 7 17
Provision for impairment loss on loan and FEUN B U F) EBYRIE
interest receivables ESIERE 749 13,265
Gain on lease termination KIFFEE W (32) -
Provision for impairment loss on investment in R—EBE R EY
an associate VEREY FEi=tc -] 760 -~
Fair value loss on investment properties REYEZ N TEERE 1,411 -
Trade receivables written off B 5 R I i 430 70
Loan receivables written off FEW E S - 1,515
Property, plant and equipment written off YD R E R s M EE - 7
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYZ= -BEAREESIE 126 -
Share of losses of associates FE(LEE A BIA1E 361 105
Share of loss of a joint venture Eh—EaE R TEE 9 7
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes 18 & & FATL =
(B518) /1= (7,547) 194
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 KR EMEWREIE R 2,461 2,647
Decrease in loan and interest receivables R E = B A 2R 12,616 12,078
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at FVTPL AT EEFAERZ
SRS E (EM D (1,440) 722
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHEE (8 HL (271) 1,238
Decrease in contract liabilities aHEa/’RD (1,409) (593)
Decrease in other payables and accruals HpE A IE R e 5T & R (509) (723)
Cash generated from operations ,.%%.“Fﬁ/ MiRE 3,901 15,563
Interest on lease liabilities BEEBZAE (592) (640)
Hong Kong profits tax refund/(paid) Effx%&/ B19) FEFIER 113 (3,670)
Net cash generated from operating activities RS REFTISNIR S PR 3,422 11,253
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n\7|-\ EE@/}".E%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE _ZE_ " F+_B=+—HILFE

2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHEx
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEESMESNIRERE
Interest received BUF 2 3 2
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE -BEREE (2,198) (432)
Purchases of investment properties BEREY* (4,011) -
Acquisition of associates g1 d—YN=] = (1,502)
Proceed of disposal of property, plant and equipment Hj’%%¥ f%&%&fﬁz}ﬁﬁ%?ﬂlﬁ 15 -
Proceed from disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI  HEZRAFEEAEMEE
WA Z E/MEEZPTEMRIE - 1,077
Net cash used in investing activities KEEBFTANIRESF5 (6,191) (855)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES AMEESFEHNIRERE
Principal elements of lease payments HENTNAEED (7,830) (7,076)
Net cash used in financing activities R EEEFTANIRE PR (7,830) (7,076)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND RERRELBYWRL)
CASH EQUIVALENTS 1EINHERE (10,599) 3,322
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING F#RERRE%EEY
OF THE YEAR 37,544 34,222
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRFAERIREEEY
OF THE YEAR 26,945 37,544
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR&RBEEZEEYWZHN
Cash and cash equivalents R MIREEEY 26,945 37,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MBS R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit 708, 7th
Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group
are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. IR REsTEAMTRRE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING #ER|
STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent
(March 2021) Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to
Project HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

Merger Accounting
for Common Control
Combinations

Amendments to
Accounting Guideline 5

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

(a) ERAMIIREEBIEEMBRE

- 1]
FEBCERERHEESHMAS
EHUETRWR - _H#—B—HxzE
B FEHEREEN TIES
MRS EET & LR GES TS
ETEN

BRGHER E BN (S

$16%% (B3] HERRABPRS
MR

EBGER BREEN-RITEN

F375% (1851 %) BYRL A

BAVBREER  BSERZREMR
EREA(CHEN)

ERAMBREEN —T—FXB=+
$16%% (B3] H#%COVID-1948%8
(CBZ—5=R) ZHEA%

FEEER TBE-N\EETEC

TEREBUBRE
ERFEUE

BEH1E5I5E55 HEEHEHBGH

(f&517) E=Er3

REAFERBEEVMBRSERES]
FHAEERAFERBTEEFEZH
BRARERRK AZEREMHR
KFFSZIRBET BB AT E-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective
The Group has not applied any new standard,

amendments to standards and interpretation that have

been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2022. The new standard,

amendments to standards and interpretation include

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

3. RN BARIESIEBMBHRS
ZER (1)

(b) BHEMRME I R EREIHET R AEIE
SIERBMBREED
FEEXRBEHRABEAMENR T
F-A—HRBHPERFEEHREN
BYME I 5T 22 B W2 R R 22 REAY(E
SJoMETHERHEAKEREBNETE
EEIREEAE BB T R

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
KU THBRxZE
EsTHARBIIA LR

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
— Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax
Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease
Liability in a Sales and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
— Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

EBGHERIB15E (BFTE) —
B EDESRETIFRE

1 January 2024
—ETMFE—A—H

ARG ERB15E (1B5T4) —
RN IERE R E

1 January 2024
—ETNFE—/FA—H

BB ERF1RREBMHRS
ERBEHBERAS25E (B5T4) —
BT ERAVIRER

1 January 2023
I

SR gHERESE —gsHEst 2 1 January 2023
= —_E_=F—HF—H

ARG ERF1298 (1B5T4) —BE—
RZPEENEEKREEREN
TESER IR

1 January 2023
“E=F—A—H

EBMHREENF165E BFT4) —
ERELTAERR

1 January 2024
—EHF—HB—H

BEBMBHRSENF10RNEE
gt R F285 (B5]4) —
REZERHABEATNGELEL
BHENRAEE

To be determined
by the HKICPA
TEBYAGREE

EEREESH (CE_F)
FIESREL 28]~ HRAAHDS
BB ER R R

par:!

1 January 2024
—EMF—A—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g.
investment properties and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

4. EREER

ZEGOMBREDREERAERFER
HUTEHABRSARBE PIUREYE
RETHEATEESEZSMIA)RIRKRI -

REVBRERDEREBY B RS ERR
BoERARKAETIZEES MG TEX
EEENEAREREHBRBRERFL
Aoy e ENABNSERME 2 85
FHGEEHBEREMEBERBRRK KEE
Z & T EE 5 B

RERESGEEVBREREEAZERS
STBUERE T T -

(a) BREIRE
REMBRECELLDRENER
BEE+-A=+t—HLEZHHER*x
MEBAREAEEHERERIERNEZ
B -BEX-EEESNEAESRBEM
Bz 7@Lm BREENZBHEEER
ZRNFTEZFERE Q| AEE ] E
FIZER -BE4AERZRAENETH
EREEEERES BEEXEER
CHRZER) R AXERNZERYE
BT

ST ER R AEEEEBHEER
BRERUREMALAEREZERER
FR-EEFBARBRTEZENZ
BRT ARERBEEREE

WEADEEHREBEAEE S H
RS S ARE I B A BITE S KL >
B LSS Ao

AHEWB AR MERKEZEREZ
BER () HERBZAFEEMER
RERZMNBERARD ZREZRTEERE
R (i) ERBEEZNERATEES
BEMERR RS ERERERZNE
REZRERREEMEB Z 8.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
797 g = |

RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EATHEE (@)
(CONTINUED)

(b) EBEHEREE

(b) Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. |dentifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are, with limited
exceptions, measured at their acquisition-date fair
values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration is classified as an asset or
a liability resulting from a contract under contingent
consideration arrangement and is remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held
by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill
which is included in the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income
is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate. If the associate subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration
of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that associate and (i) the Group’s entire carrying
amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to
apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are
activities that significantly affect the returns of the
arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential
voting rights held by other parties. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

RA TR R MY 5E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a
joint venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the arrangement. The Group has
assessed the type of each of its joint arrangements
and determined them to all be joint ventures.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount
of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

(f)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group’s
share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds
its interest in the joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture
that results in a loss of joint control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration
of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that joint venture and (i) the Group’s entire carrying
amount of that joint venture (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve. If an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate, the Group continues to
apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of joint ventures have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which
is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. EXRGFHER (B

(f) SRR (R

(f) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (continued)

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
leasehold land, held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than properties under construction as described
below), are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Over the lease terms
20% to 50%
20% to 50%

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment and

software
Motor vehicles 20%
Other equipment 10%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets
are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is withdrawn from
use. Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment
property is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in
note 4(s).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the carrying amount
of the relevant right-of-use asset is transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

1)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In
such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred. An
internally generated intangible asset arising from the
Group’s systems development is recognised only if all
of the following conditions are met:

- The technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use

or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

—  There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

1)

(k)

Intangible assets (continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(continued)

- It can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

—  Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset are available;

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development can be reliably
measured.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 4 years.
Where no internally generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(z) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
797 g = |

RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of ECLs,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Financial assets (continued)

(n)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’'s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EATHEE (@)

(CONTINUED)
(s) Uk R E KA

(s) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Revenue from provision of software maintenance,
hosting and related services is recognised over the
contracted period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group as the group performs.
Advances are normally required before rendering the
services.

Software licensing service income from leasing the
software products to its customers is recognised as
a performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. The nature of the
Group’s performance obligation in granting a license
is considered to be a right to access the Group’s
intellectual property.

Revenue from provision of consultancy and transaction
services is recognised over the contracted period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Payment for services is not due from the customer
until the services are complete and therefore a contract
asset is recognised over the period in which the
services are performed representing the entity’s right to
consideration for the services performed to date.

Revenue from sales of merchandise, after deduction of
any discounts, is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has accepted the products, the collection of the related
consideration is probable and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. A receivable is recognised by the
Group when goods are delivered to the customers
as this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
797 g = |

RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from sales of technology software systems,
and provision of system customisation and network
support services, after deduction of any discounts,
is recognised at a point in time on completion of
the customisation and network support work which
generally coincides with the time when the customised
software and network support work is accepted by
the customer. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the technology software systems being delivered
and/or customisation and network support work are
completed at customers’ location as this represents
the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use
of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®)

(u)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs and involves

the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain employees and others providing similar
services. Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of
non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain directors and consultants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
consultants are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to parties other
than employees are measured at the fair value of the
services rendered or, if the fair value of the services
rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value
of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is
measured at the date the Group receives the services
and is recognised as an expense.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. EXGEK (B

(x) Taxation (x) #RIE

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

PRISTRIE BN ERIR IR BIESE IR TR = W8 &R

BPHAFE (Y B9 MR IR LU SE A FEER A i A1) 51
o MERIN i M B 48 3 B SR RY i AT
B hHEREFEREMEENBERR
AR WA IER REF RN
g N EHR 1 BY I8 B P 3 o A S [ BN #3 AR
BEERBEHARERNENELDS
ERRKSE

RERBEZBEAVBERREERE
BRI IR {8 2 5t B FE SRR d A K5 P A
MR FE IR AL 2 [ B0 B BRF = ZA R 50 o IR SRR
BERBRREMERNY R EEE
50 MAEEIR IR E ET5 I AT AEH IR AT A
BN ERER RPBRNEBEN
R B F3 R T K G2 9 54 1R BR AR v ) By B
BeHBERERREBHERNRZ PHAM
EERBENNT D (EBSHE
5h) EEx“%EEET%%F%D%ﬁ%/ %'J’
AT EESHAN AZFEERER
T LABES ”°

RIEMBEEERRMB AR BERQ
BIREGERBZREMIIBNERR
B AT PRIFR M A S &
TREHANADRZERERTAIR
R K AJ BEREE]

BEMBEENRAEETSREHAR
ETER LEFBAEATEERR
wEM A HEEIFRESRBOEEBRT
R

BEREBETZBRARBESENEE
SIRPBMERNREFAE BRRER
RERE\PERACHEXNE L EHE
M IRIEFR A B TP HERD > MR i
EREREHMEEWANEZARE
m PSRRI IEE B RIRRI EILE R
Tﬁk%ﬂlﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁ\,\ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁlkﬁé
B Em RS

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH

104



105

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x) Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties
are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

(2)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this
is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual
asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is
being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, trade and other
receivables and contract assets. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables, loan and interest receivables and
contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SI

RA TR R MY 5E

GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(@)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

()  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (continued)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

—  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date; together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by
default date determined based on historical trend, the
Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-
looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not
reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. EXGEK (B

(aa) BB RHAGR

(aa) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

(ab) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have made
the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(z), ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.

(ii) Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group’s operation.

Generally, periods beyond a termination option in
other properties leases have not been included in
the lease liability because the Group could replace
the assets without significant cost or business
disruption. See note 21 for further information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
During the current financial year, no lease term
has been reassessed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

(iii) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed
the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties
are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred
tax for investment properties, the Directors
have adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered through sale. Accordingly, no
deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment properties as
the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong
because no capital gain tax arising from property
sales in Hong Kong.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i)

Impairment of trade and loan and interest
receivables

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade and
loan and interest receivables based on the credit
risk of these receivables. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured
as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less
than expected, or being revised downward due
to changes in facts and circumstances, a material
impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and loan and interest
receivables (continued)

Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has increased
the expected loss rates in the current year as
there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic
could lead to increased credit default rates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s loan
and interest receivables are disclosed in note 6(c).

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of trade, loan and interest receivables are
HK$1,930,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$94,000), HK$37,575,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$56,385,000)
and HK$1,702,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$2,399,000) respectively (2021:
HK$4,918,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$115,000), HK$49,925,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$65,807,000)
and HK$2,717,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$2,567,000) respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5. ERFETREEME (@)

(b) st FREARR RN EEXRIR (1B)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(i) Impairment of property, plant and (i) E- -BERREUREFEE

equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and
an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31
December 2022 were HK$2,584,000 (2021:
HK$1,185,000) and HK$8,897,000 (2021:
HK$14,502,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5. ERFEREEME ()

(b) st FEARR RN EEXRIR (1)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(iii) Income taxes (iii) FFiz

Significant estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the year in which
such determination is made. During the year,
HK$1,101,000 (2021: HK$1,827,000) of income
tax was charged to profit or loss based on the
estimated result from operations.

The carrying amount of current tax assets as
at 31 December 2022 was HK$797,000 (2021:
HK$1,914,000).

(iv) Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuer to assess the fair value of the investment
properties. In determining the fair value, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

Whilst the Group considers valuations of the
Group’s investment properties are the best
estimates, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has
resulted in greater market volatility depending
on how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress
and evolve, which have led to high degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the
current year.

The carrying amount of investment properties as
at 31 December 2022 was HK$2,600,000 (2021:
Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investments in equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risk and
return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock
Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower (2021: 10%
higher/lower):

- loss after tax for the year ended 31 December
2022 would decrease/increase by HK$530,000
(2021: decrease/increase by HK$1,062,000).
This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL; and

- other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2022 would increase/decrease
by HK$36,000 (2021: increase/decrease by
HK$116,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=& H
I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

RA TR R MY 5E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivable, loan and interest
receivables and contract assets) and from its financing
activities, including deposits with banks and financial
institutions. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
high credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating
agencies, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors
closely monitor the overall level of credit exposure, and
the management is responsible for the determination of
credit approvals and monitoring the implementation of
the debt collection procedure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate loss allowance is made for
irrecoverable amounts. The default risk of the industry
and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lessor extend. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk has been significant reduced.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. UHERAREE (B)
(CONTINUED)

(c) EERME (&)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following tables provide information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2022:

B S EIE (1)

TREHBBAEENR_Z-—FK
TE T TEFE+_RBR=+—HWEER
S MBS EWSIEEREERENE

K
2022
—E_C

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEERRSIEE 4ERRE(E ES1RHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
% F&ET F#ET
Current (not past due) BNHER (RiaHA) 0.57% 1,074 6
1 — 30 days past due BEA1ZE30H 3.02% 397 12
31 — 90 days past due AHEAS1ZE90H 12.14% 187 23
More than 90 days past due AEABAE00H 14.46% 366 53
2,024 94

2021
BT —F

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SELE)SF B HEEREE g
HK$’000 HK$ 000
% FHET FHET
Current (not past due) BIER GREER) 0.81% 2,097 17
1 — 30 days past due AHE1ZE30H 0.83% 1,371 11
31 — 90 days past due AHEAS1ZE90H 8.10% 105 9
More than 90 days past due BRAEEE00H 5.33% 1,460 78
5,033 115

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss FEREEXENRBEIFNEREGE

experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

st B WARE W S FE S R BRI B9
OB BRI R R A E B R
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year is as follows:

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) EERE (&)

B 5B E ()

RERBEZBBRAZGIEEFHERES
;AWM

2022 2021

=== TE—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

At 1 January w—A—H 115 938

Amounts written off during year PERMEERRIE (28) (840)
Impairment losses recognised REREDRERE

for the year 7 17

At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 94 115

Decrease in loss allowance because of utilisation of
impairment loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Loan and interest receivables

Credit risk management

In respect of loan and interest receivables arising
from the money lending business, the management
manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their
new and existing customers before standard payment
terms and conditions are offered. The management
assesses the credit quality of each customer based
on the customer’s background information, financial
position, past settlement experience and other relevant
factors. The Group also reviews from time to time the
financial conditions of the customers. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk has
been significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

6. MFBEKRER (&)

(c) EERME (&)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Loan and interest receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECL

The Group measures loss allowance under HKFRS
9 ECL model. The measure of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e., the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data, collateral values, credit rating of customers and
adjusted by forward-looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial assets is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The key inputs used for measuring ECL are:

- Probability of default (PD);

- Loss given default (LGD); and

- Exposure at default (EAD)

These figures are generally derived from internally
developed statistical models and other historical

data and they are adjusted to reflect forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued)
Loan and interest receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Elements of the ECL models that are considered
accounting judgements and estimates include:

- The Group’s estimation of probabilities of default
to individual customers;

—  The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
so allowances for financial assets should be
measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the
qualitative assessment;

- Development of ECL models, including the
various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of the period over which the entity
is exposed to credit risk based on the behavioural
life of the credit exposures, loss given default and
collateral recovery of the credit exposures; and

- Determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and, economic
inputs, such as delinquency ratios and collateral
values, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default.

It is the Group’s policy to regularly review its model in
the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

The Group categorises the credit quality of its loan
and interest receivables according to 3 different stages
under the ECL model:

Stage 1: financial assets without significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition where
loss allowance is calculated based on
12-month ECL

Stage 2: financial assets with significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition where
loss allowance is calculated based on
lifetime ECL

Stage 3:  credit impaired assets where loss allowance
is calculated based on lifetime ECL
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. UHERAREE (B)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERME (&)
Loan and interest receivables (continued) BEREZRFE (B)
Incorporation of forward-looking information N BIEEIEE R

The Group uses forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort in its assessment
of significant increase of credit risk as well as in its
measurement of ECL.

Credit risk exposure

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 on its loan and interest
receivables. The Group has taken into account the
probability of default and loss given default with
reference to the historical delinquency ratio of loan,
collateral values, credit rating of customers and current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors.

The credit quality classification of loan and interest
receivables using the Group’s ECL model is set out in
the table below:

FEBREREABZRAHBEIED
EBNrETERTEEERBRER
EEMUKRBIEERFENE.

EERERH O
FEHFER—MEUTREBRER R
NEREBYHRSERNE IRRE
FHEMEEBEREFHE AEBCH
BOBXRENBEZ EREREE
BT RITREE- TR
NEEFTRUREREEREEERRN
RAEKRAIELEER -

ERAEEZAREERERERES
ZERBWERKMNEZEEERNEH
IR TR

As at 31 December 2022
RIZE__F+"-HB=+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
P EZ1 PEER2 PEES3
12887 2HATEHR 2 HATEHA
EEk5E (EEEE 2 (FEHEE #ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET FHET FAET
Loan receivables FEWE =R 6,150 31,632 56,178 93,960
Impairment allowance EEE (92) (2,560) (53,733) (56,385)
Loan receivables — net of FEW E R — &bk
impairment allowance REEE 6,058 29,072 2,445 37,575
Interest receivables FEUH) 2 7 1,843 2,251 4,101
Impairment allowance EEE 2 (146) (2,251) (2,399)
Interest receivables — net of FEWH] B — & 408x
impairment allowance B 5 1,697 - 1,702
EMeREERRERAR o 02658 124
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued)
Loan and interest receivables (continued)

Credit risk exposure (continued)

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) EERE (&)

B RFIE ()
EEERH O (&

As at 31 December 2021
KRB —F+-A=+—H

Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total

fEg2 Fi B3

12@RAEY 2RI 28R
EERE FEBE FEBE M5t
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
THBTT THET THTT THT

Loan receivables EWER

Impairment allowance REEE

Loan receivables — net of FEW E =) — &40 Bx
impairment allowance BEEHE

Interest receivables FEUF] &

Impairment allowance BB

Interest receivables — net of FEULH) B — &40 Fx
impairment allowance RERE

Sensitivity analysis

The allowance for credit losses is sensitive to
the inputs used in internally developed models,
macroeconomic variables in the forward-looking
forecasts, economic scenario weighting and other
factors considered when applying expert judgement.
Changes in these inputs, assumptions and judgements
impact the assessment of significant increase in credit
risk and the measurement of ECL.
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6,970 42,666 66,096 115,732

(11) (1,966)  (63,830)  (65,807)

6,959 40,700 2,266 49,925

25 2,822 2,437 5,284

- (130) (2,437) (2,567)

25 2,692 - 2,717
YR E DT

EEREEENFTEERNMHE EMNE
AP EANBARE FIEEFEANR
BRESE - RESSREURERSE
RAEFEBNEMARSER -ZFH
ABB - RRKRAEBHNEH K Y EER
REERMRRBEEBEFENT
HMELETE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

6. MFBEKRER (&)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

(c) EERME (&)

Loan and interest receivables (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table shows the impact on ECL
allowance on loan receivables and interest receivables
as at 31 December by changing individual input:

FERERFE (&

HREDHT (&

TRETBBEERN A BBEER
+ZA=+—HHNERERKERF
ENFAREERERERZZE:

Increase/(decrease) on
ECL allowance on loan and
interest receivables

FER SRR R F S B9 TERA
EEEBEBELm (RL)
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Assuming the expected default rate is R TRANEANREH EFA10%
relatively increased by 10% 4,464 5,008
Assuming the expected default rate is R TARBBAEEE THE10%
relatively decreased by 10% (2,592) (2,108)
Concentration of credit risk EEEfEEH

At 31 December 2022, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk as 10.21% (2021: 21.93%)
and 37.59% (2021: 58.69%) of the total trade
receivables (net of ECL allowance) was due from the
largest trade customer and five largest trade customers
respectively.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk as 15.34% (2021:
14.80%) and 54.35% (2021: 51.87%) of the total loan
receivables (net of ECL allowance) was due from the
largest loan receivable and five largest loan receivables
respectively.

A S E+_R=1+—H'BARE
SIEURFRIEAREE (M RTERE E R85
B 10.21% (ZE - —5F:21.93%)
K 37.59% (ZZF - —5:58.69%)
NAEEKBRREZERAREAESE
PZRE-HAEREETEEETR

85 o
AR

RIE__H+_"B=+—H BRE
WERARRE (NEEREEHERER)
B915.34% (ZZFZ—F:14.80%) &
54.35% (Z&E_—:51.87%) 7 5
ARARERERR A RERE DR W
EEBAETEEETRR-

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
797 g = |

RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s investments at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk, and the
loss allowance recognised during the period was
therefore limited to 12-month expected losses. Other
instruments are considered to be low credit risk when
they have a low of default and the issuer has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term.

Financial assets at amortised cost include contingent
consideration receivable, other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents.

Movement in the loss allowance for contingent
consideration receivable during the year is as follows:

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) EERE (&)

R BRI EE
FREAEBZBERAGFENRERN
EERBRHEE B RBARERZ
BEEHE 12 @R EEIEARH
HMTHENRERREMETAAR
BENREHANBRTENREZRE
MEEE MEMTAZEEARED
Ao

R#HNAFEZEHEESCERK
FARE -EMMEURRERRE RIRE

ZEY-

AEEERSANBHNEERHNE
E RN

2022

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 January R—B—H -
Impairment losses recognised for the year RERMERRERIE 367
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities is as follows:

6. MFBEKRER (&)

(d) ABE = E Rz

oA o 0 P TR R D B 9 O T R D
BB % TR B (R ELAE 55 2 980
Re MR LARENREERN KD
HEHERe

rEBRZRTRETREABZ I
LEMERESNIBASTUT:

On demand Between
or less than Over 2 and 5
1 year 1 year years Total
BREREE
FOME EBRE 2FE55 “ast
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
FHT  THAT  TAT AR
At 31 December 2022 RZE_”_&+-RA=+—H
Accruals and other payables FEsTE AR HMENRIE 21,023 - - 21,023
Lease liabilities HESE 7,073 1,565 722 9,360
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—%+-A=+—H
Accruals and other payables fEEtER R EMELTIE 21,532 - - 21,532
Lease liabilities HE&SE 8,184 6,139 1,116 15,439

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument or the interest income of a portfolio will
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s major interest-bearing assets and liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are bank deposits,
interest-bearing loan receivables and lease liabilities
under finance lease arrangement. Interests on bank
deposits are principally based on deposits rates
offered by banks in Hong Kong. Interest-bearing loan
receivables are charged at fixed rates.

The Group manages its interest rate exposure by
matching the interest rate profile of its assets and
liabilities. The Board is responsible for ensuring the
policy is appropriate and sufficient to monitor the
interest rate exposure of the Group, by regularly
monitoring the benchmark interest rates of products
offered against prevailing market conditions. All of the
Group’s loan receivables and lease liabilities carried
fixed interest rates. The Group prices these loan
receivables strategically to reflect market fluctuations
and achieve a reasonable interest rate spread.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
interest rate risk.

(e) FIZEMER

FMEREEESRIANEEIREMR
B BYF) B WA R BE T 15 ) R E B TR
VRN EHR AEE T Z5
BREERBEARTERREBUNG R
ERkRMEHEZHETHNEEA R
RITERNR BT EENEBRT
RENTFERF X BT ERERIZEE
ARSI

FEBREBREERS B XS
EHREEHANXER - EFTAEETE
HERERNT R TEREHNER
MR- BERRREE BEUEEZEAEH
AEENFXER FEE2HEKRER
REBEEEREZEENXRFE -AEEE
ERBE M 2 % F W E TRE B LR R
TG RE LEFSENSE

E e - 3 2 5L A R @ R 2 7R E D
#fre
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. UHERMEIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31 (f) *+—B=+—Hz&mIAESHE
December Jadl|
2022 2021
—E_C T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Financial assets: ERMBEE:
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEESAREMEZEBRAZ
EHEE 364 1,158
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEESFABRZ SHEE 5,303 10,619
Contingent consideration receivable FEW S AH(E 6,977 6,182
Financial assets at amortised cost R IE R AT EN SR EE 71,603 99,435
Financial liabilities: EREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEBIER AT ENEMER 20,513 21,208
(9) Fair values (9) 2FEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets FEBEFAGRETBRAIRPNERH
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated EERECHEENREEEERZREN
statement of financial position approximate their N EERESE
respective fair values.
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. ATEESE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. REEESE G
(CONTINUED)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) R+ ZB=+—HZRATEERE
at 31 December: MR
Fair value measurements using: Total
EANTEABEZ AT EEHTE: Hmst
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
FE—k BLR F=k —T-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Description s FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements: REMATEEHE:
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEESAERZ
SHEE
- Listed equity investments — iR AEE 5,303 - - 5,303
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEASAEMZE
WAZEHEE
- Listed equity investment — EHRAKGE 364 - - 364
Non-financial assets FEHEE
Investment properties REME
— Car parking spaces — Hong Kong —EEA—FE - 2,600 - 2,600
Total 4mst 5,667 2,600 - 8,267
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRAUTEAREZ ATEEHNZ: 4mst
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
E—1k BIR Foh T F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description iz FHET FHET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: BEUEQATEESE:
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEESABRZEME
E
- Listed equity investments — EHRAEE 10,619 - - 10,619
Contingent consideration receivable FEURSHAAE - - 6,182 6,182
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEESAEM
2EWAZ EREE
- Listed equity investment — FHRAKGE 1,158 - - 1,158
Total WaEt 11,777 - 6,182 17,959

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of assets/(liabilities)

ATEESE B

(b) RIEF=ZRBRATEBEAEZE

(c)

measured at fair value based on level 3: E/ (8B HiR:
Financial assets Contingent
at FVTOCI - consideration
unlisted equity (payable)/
investment receivable Total
BATEEA
HfttZEWAZ
EREEZ (B /FEUR
JE LA E HARK(E 4Est
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2021 B —F—H—H 3,231 21) 3,210
Fair value change during the year F£RAFBEEH) - 6,203 6,203
De-recognition upon disposal HE R IETERR (3,231) - (3,231)
At 31 December 2021 and N TE T —F
1 January 2022 +ZA=4+—HkK
—_E__F—HF—H - 6,182 6,182
Fair value change during the year FRAFBEESH - 1,162 1,162
Transfer B - (7,344) (7,344)
At 31 December 2022 AT F
+-B=+—H - - -

As at 31 December 2022, contingent consideration
receivable of HK$7,344,000 was transferred from
measurement based on level 3 as a result of one of
the conditions as stated in the sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the acquisition of Metrotec
Limited could not be met, the management expected
the vendor to compensate the Group in cash.
Therefore, the contingent consideration receivable was
measured at amortised cost as at 31 December 2022,
See note 36 for more details.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements at
31 December 2022:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial controller
reports directly to the Board for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial controller and the
Board at least once a year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. REEESE G

(CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c) ZEBFERAZHERBERNR_-Z
the Group and valuation techniques and —ZH&+ZHA=+—H2FEE
inputs used in fair value measurements at STERFERZEERTRE AR
31 December 2022: (continued) BZHE: (8)

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will ME=ZBHRAFTEBEFEMS ~EE
normally engage external valuation experts with the RHEREAEE A ARNEEEERITH
recognised professional qualifications and recent KERINEEEERETHE

experience to perform the valuations.

Level 2 fair value measurements E_ERATFEEE
Fair value
ATAEE
2022 2021
nt= S ST
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Description Valuation technique Inputs Asset Asset
g fh{ERKIS BABE BE BE
Investment properties Market approach method Market price 2,600 Nil
BEME % TiHERE i
- Car parking spaces — Hong Kong
— (2B —&E
Level 3 fair value measurements BoEBRAFEEE
Fair value
AVEE
2022 2021
ZEICE |IZTF
Effect on fair value HK$'000 | HK$'000
Unobservable for increase of inputs TET THL
Description Valuation technique  inputs Range BABBIERY Asset Asset
B fHERTS TORRHABE LilE] ATEETE BE BE
Contingent consideration Weighted-average Probability-Adjusted Losses of Higher of the net loss, Nil 6,182
receivable probability approach losses/profits HK$7,786,000 to higher of fair value asset
HK$8,000,000
FEMEIAKE TSR BERCEREE/ B B87,786,00080E BEZEEN ATEEEN &
8,000,000%7¢
During the two years, there were no changes in the 72 WA G FE 7Y > {58 R 2 1t B 455 1l it o
valuation techniques used. #o

EM SRS EERERAT « 2022FF5E 132
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

8. REVENUE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

W&k
(a) 7 #frim

FEERIZRBEBEDNRERTR

customers by major service line for the year is as BN W@ DA T
follows:
2022 2021
St 5 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Revenue from contracts with EAMBREERNFE155HER
customers within the scope of KEEREHZINEG
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major service lines BRI BRSNS
Sales of merchandise HEBD 1,025 65
Sales of technology software systems HERIMTERG R4 6,536 6,947
System customisation and RG] R EE IR
network support 10,644 8,344
Software licensing services B IFET AR TS 26,490 30,275
Software maintenance services B RERTS 8,696 9,471
Hosting and related services A AR 28 25 17 K AE RABR 5 4,802 5,716
Consultancy and transaction services BRI Z R 1 7
Others Hth 1 2
58,195 61,537
Revenue from other sources HithRiIRZ U=
Interest income on loan financing BREEZHEWA 2,628 5,105
60,823 66,642
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods
and services over time and at a point in time in the

8. U (4)
(a) SiFuka ()

REBEMKDRBER U T EERBE
F-BRBERRARE-FEMER

following major service lines:

AR s e

Financial
trading
software
solutions Others Total
RS
ERIFARR
HE Hith “st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z__
+ZB=+—HLHEE
Time of revenue recognition R R R R
Point in time H B 17,973 17,975
Over time B B 5 40,220 - 40,220
58,193 2 58,195
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T-—%fF
+ZB=+—HLIFE
Time of revenue recognition TR R R
Point in time R 15,134 8 15,142
Over time BERF RS 45,684 711 46,395
60,818 719 61,537

Transaction price allocated to the

(b) PERFERENHRTENEEN

remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 such that the Group need
not adjust the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of a significant financing component if the
Group expects, at contract inception, that the period
between when the Group transfers a promised good or
service to a customer and when the customer pays for
that good or service will be one year or less.

The Group has also applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of goods and services such that the Group
need not disclose the information about revenue
that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies
the remaining performance obligations. The Group
recognises the revenue at the amount to which it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value
to the customer of the Group’s performance completed
to date.

X7 E%

FEBCEREBHMBREERSE 15
REEIRNEARE Z5H AL
ERGNREREN AEERERHE
BERENEMABRFTEERZTZE
an 5 AR 75 B AR 8l S 2 — SE S MU RUZR
EEERNEARES DN ERE
EENREEE

FEBETHHEHEHEMRBRHNHEE
BHNEAEBYBREENSE 15 %
F121 RN EREE S AAER
BORGENEER AEBGEKE
AERBEREERR@E R AL
REAEMBSEENSEEITRA &
THEENERAEEBEEZART
MR EENEREE.

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH

134



135

9. OTHER INCOME

9. HfthlixA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

2022 2021

—E-- T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Interest income on bank deposits IRTTERZFIBUA 3 2
Government grants* B3 Bh 1,546 30
Rental income AEWA 25 -
Gain on lease termination KIFFEE WS 32 -
Sundry income HIEWA 100 46
1,706 78

# The Group recognised government grants of HK$1,456,000 and # AEERBE_Z__F+-_B=+—HLLFE

HK$90,000 (2021: Nil and HK$30,000) in respect of Employment
Support Scheme and FinTech Anti-epidemic Scheme for Talent
Development and, respectively, which provided by the Hong Kong

government during the year ended 31 December 2022. 7o) °©

10. OTHER LOSSES

10. EfthE5#8

762 90,000 Bt (ZFZ"—

DRIFRRE BB B REBBUFIRENTEE
S ERBHE AL ST ERE B BUN 8 1,456,000 %
£ 1 8 52 30,000 B

2022 2021
—E_C T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Net fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL AT EBEt ABENESREE
2 ATEERIRTEEE (6,756) (928)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE -BEKR&EZEE
equipment (126) -
Property, plant and equipment written off YD BB R sk EE - @)
Provision for impairment loss on investment ~ R—RIEEASIRE
in an associate REEEEE (760) -
Fair value loss on investment properties KEMEZ N EERE (1,411) -
Trade receivables written off B 5 eI TR IB A (430) (70)
Provision for impairment loss on B 5 GRS R B R 1B
trade receivables (7) (17)
(9,490) (1,022)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has five operating segments as follows:

(@) Financial trading software solutions — development,
sale and provision of financial trading software
solutions with the principal products being trading and
settlement systems of financial products for financial
institutions;

(b) Other IT and internet financial platforms services -
provision of e-commerce platforms, other online
consultancy services and provision of IT services and
other financial information;

(c)  Money lending — provision of loan financing;
(d) Assets investments — trading of listed securities; and

(e) Others — comprises the Group’s trading of gaming
products and the provision of related marketing
services business and stored valued mastercards
business.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The Group’s other operating segments represent the
Group’s trading of gaming products and the provision of
related marketing services business and stored valued
mastercards business. None of these segments meets any
of the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable
segments. The information of these other operating
segments is included in the “Others” column.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated administrative expenses, interest income
on bank deposits, fair value loss on investment properties,
certain government grant, provision for impairment loss on
goodwill, share of loss of a joint venture, share of loss of
associates, finance cost and income tax expense. Segment
assets do not include investments in a joint venture and
associates, investment properties, financial assets at
FVTOCI, deferred tax assets, current tax assets, cash and
cash equivalents and other corporate and unallocated
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.
Segment liabilities do not include current and deferred tax
liabilities and other corporate and unallocated liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as
if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current
market prices.

1. D EPE R

AEEEUTHEATZ2HRDE:

(a) EMXZRUBRDE-HEHEK
RUHSMIXZREBRNTE TEERD
RETMEBERANEMERZTZ R
EEARR,

(b) HMEMAMEAEBMESR T AR
B-RMEBFEHT A HMEGRES
AR 75 K 12 tH B A B AR %5 K LA 75
ELa

(c) EE—RRHEMBME,;
(d) BERE-BELTES K

(e) Hith—OREAEENEBEEHE DK
REEREERBEEBEAESFERE
REH

AEBZO2RDMWIBIRHATRFE R LR
B RBEMEBBEU-ANKSEEFERT
B 2 50 Ke i 35 SR B > R EA F ] 2] 0 2B
DHRBIEE.

AEBRHMCE O EAERBNE TR
BERREREEMEERBEBRBEE
REFEF - ZZDBHEIRTAEENZ2R
DN EERE-ZFHMEFDBNE
BMATHEM —1&e

KEDMAAZEHBEREGEMHRE
BYEE 4 PRt 2 & 5T EURAB B o o0 80 e M 5 S
BAGBERDETHRAX RITERZA
BRAKREMEZAFTEBEBE-ETH
B - BEREERER BE—BSE
NEEE EEBEARER MBRAR
IS -HRNRN—EaE I RBER
BzRE- REVE-RATEES AHM
EHBRAZEMEE ELERBEEZ B
MEBE-RERREFEYAREMAT
RADEEEDRERTVAEE WO &
ETBEZEEE-ARALRELERIES
BERAMABRRDEGEDRERTLN
EE - WOBBETEEZSE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=.AH
I

RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

1. ZEER (&)

(CONTINUED)
() Information about reportable segments (i) EATEHRDIBENHEE B
profit or loss, assets and liabilities: ERBaEZEH:
Other IT
Financial and internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions services lending investments Others Total
ERRE  HftERRHE
BERA REHH
FE ERMTARE &8 BERE Hith a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TiER TR TR TR TR
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_T-__E+"H
=t+—HLEE
Revenue from external customers BRRMNBRRZ W 58,193 - 2,628 - 2 60,823
Segment profit/(loss) DEER/ (58) 9,168 50 (7,989) (6,793) (1,356) (6,920)
Depreciation = 5,224 7 1,091 - 568 6,890
Provision for impairment loss BRI RESRRA
on trade receivables 7 - - - - 7
Provision for impairment loss on EMESRF SR EREERE
loan and interest receivables - - 749 - - 749
Net fair value loss on financial assets BATBESABENEH
at FVTPL BENATEESES - - - 6,756 - 6,756
Additions to segment non-current assets RENBERGEE 998 - 19 - - 1,017
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZ&+°A=1+-H
Segment assets ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ 12,331 7 39,883 5,303 1,991 59,515
Segment liabilities NEBEE (33,752) (175) (738) (35) (2,295) (36,995)
Other IT
Financial ~ and internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions services lending investments Others Total
SRR HMERRR
A KA
FE  SRTORE (= BERE Hith st
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHT THT TET FHT THT FHT
Year ended 31 December 2021 BHECZ--F
T-A=T—BIEE
Revenue from external customers RRIMNIE R 2 Wit 60,818 - 5,105 - 719 66,642
Segment profit/(loss) PEER/ (58 11,402 (154) (19,724 (956) 2975 (12,407)
Depreciation & 5,318 7 1,060 - 449 6,834
Provision for impairment loss on B RWRIE R ERRRAE
trade receivables 17 - - - - 17
Provision for impairment loss on EMES KA SR ERERRE
loan and interest receivables - - 13,265 - - 13,265
Net fair value loss on financial assets BATBEFAERNER
at FVTPL BENATEEHRTH - - - 928 - 928
Additions to segment non-current assets REDBIFRPEE 3,454 - 2,172 - 2,238 7,864
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ—%+-A=1+—H
Segment assets NHEE 19,051 19 54,316 10,619 2,770 86,775
Segment liabilities DEpaE (40,957) (99) (1,870) (34) (2,465)  (45,425)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION 1. D EER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segments: (i) TEHRSIBZHIR:
Revenue and profit or loss: W Ko i FIIBLETHE .
2022 2021
—EC T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Revenue Yz
Consolidated revenue el 60,823 66,642
Profit or loss EF AR
Total loss of reportable segments A2 E 2 B51E4EEE (6,920) (12,407)
Unallocated amounts: RAECFIA:
Other income EHalg A 34
Fair value loss on investment properties B EYH% > AT BEEIE (1,411) -
Share of losses of associates FE(ERE A TR 1R (361) (109)
Share of loss of a joint venture Elh—EEaE AT EE 9) @)
Fair value change of contingent (FEWD) /FES RARED
consideration (receivable)/payable NEEEEH 1,162 6,203
Provision for impairment loss on FEW S AA BV BB IR E
contingent consideration receivable (367) -
Provision for impairment of goodwill RN E R = (6,726)
Provision for impairment loss on R—EEARREZ
investment in an associate B EEE (760) /
Unallocated head office and AOBABMERERABFHX
corporate expenses (17,833) (11,460)
Consolidated loss before tax FEbRRATEE (26,465) (24,500)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

1. ZEER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segments: (ii) AT 2RI 2 HER: (B)
(continued)
Assets and liabilities: HEREE.
2022 2021
St 5 B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FEIT
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AEHDB2EERE 59,515 86,775
Unallocated amounts: FOECFIE:
Contingent consideration receivable FEUR SR 6,977 6,182
Investments in associates REENBNEKRE 276 1,397
Investment in a joint venture R—EaEABNKEE 93 102
Investment properties KEY = 2,600 -
Unallocated head office and AOBLABRMER R ABEE
corporate assets 34,165 45,026
Consolidated total assets HAEBEMEE 103,626 139,482
Liabilities afi
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIE2;|DE 2 B ELEEE 36,995 45,425
Unallocated amounts: FOECFIE:
Unallocated head office and FOBAEMER R ABEE
corporate liabilities 3,128 2,194
Consolidated total liabilities e aEiELE 40,123 47,619

(iii) Geographical information: (iif) th@E &k} :
The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands with KABIMHEEEAEME MAER
the Group’s major operations located in Hong Kong. FTEEHRAUNRSBET - AEBKEH
Substantially all of the Group’s revenue from external BELPNERI DN REEET B KAE
customers are derived from Hong Kong. All the non- BFMEFERBEEDUNE R
current assets of the Group are located in Hong Kong.

(iv) Information about major customers (iv) ERAEXEXBRMNEN

RmEr fEREREME—- AR
ZERETRZzWm b AERRE
10% LA Lo

There was no revenue arising from transactions with
any customers which was individually more than 10%
of the Group’s revenue in both years.
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

FINANCE COSTS 12. BT pRAs
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZFE 592 640
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FRiSIAY>
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows: FT8MERERPREIBWT:
2022 2021
=== TE—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET
Current — Hong Kong Profits Tax B — BB HEMR
- Charge for the year —FREHE 1,019 1,821
— Over-provision in prior years —IBFFEEBREEE (15) (8)
1,004 1,813
Deferred tax (note 35) IRIERRIE (F5235) 97 14
Income tax expense FRiSMRMAx 1,101 1,827

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for
the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying
corporations established in Hong Kong will be lowered to
8.25% (2021: 8.25%), and profits above that amount will be
subject to the tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

REREREREBEYEE((RBRY
BB ZERMES ~EBBAGNMHES
BERABELEEEMAMAENR.

RIBEMEFSRE REBRILINEER
JEBE 2,000,000 7B 7T FERR &R Y F
BRMEBTREES 2% (B —4:
8.25%) MBiBZ BN EF L 16.5% 18

B (ST —%116.5%)°

Hhth & R0 s F) 2 B HTH IR A
EEEEMERRKNRITEN 2B RIED
BRHERTIREKFTHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13. e (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and T8 B RMATBEEERUSTEBFER
the product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong MEZBZHERUOT:
Profits Tax rate is as follows:
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax FRIRRTES B (26,465) (24,500)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%  Z&BFEHRNF16.5%1E 2
(2021: 16.5%) RIE(CE-—:16.5%) (4,367) (4,043)
Lower tax rate for specific local requirement 4% & A #1#R FE B = (165) (165)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible FEJ0BRREISE 2 IRF a2 7,360 3,367
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BEZFHRBAZ R E (7,061) (3,200)
Tax effect of temporary differences ARG R AR N E
not recognised (23) (150)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KERRBEFEZ RETE 5,317 6,018
Tax effect of share of results of associates R E N BB RMBTE 60 17
Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture FE(E—RIEE AT EEY
MBe 2 1 1
Tax effect of tax concessions MUz RE & (6) (10)
Over-provision in prior years EBEFEBERE (15) (8)
Income tax expense FRiSHRMAX 1,101 1,827

14.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after

14. £ERE5IE
AER EABRDNINBR TS ERS

charging the

following: He

2022 2021
—E-- T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Auditors’ remuneration TZE NN 1,050 970
— Audit service — BIZRT 950 900
— Other service — HARRFE 100 70
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥R &R EITE 658 754
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 7,889 6,865

Direct operating expenses of investment EFHEWAZKREYE
properties that generate rental income BEREKEMS 6 -

Cost of services includes staff costs, amortisation and
depreciation of approximately HK$15,621,000 (2021:
HK$14,846,000) which are included in the amounts

disclosed separately.

ik
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EERAIFX

2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BTz (BIEEEHD)
— Salaries, bonus and allowance — ¥ TEAT R REh 46,537 47,370
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions —RIREFIF B 1,052 1,091
47,589 48,461

(a) Pension - defined contribution plan (a) BhAE —REMRETE

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for eligible
employees in Hong Kong.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and the employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the
MPF Scheme and which may be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contributions. There
were also no forfeited contributions available at 31
December 2021 and 2022 under the MPF Scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

The total contributions paid and payable to the MPF
Scheme by the Group amounted to HK$1,052,000
(2021: HK$1,091,000) for the year ended 31 December
2022, which were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

FEERBEECEREEZANAE
TR RSB EH #HR o

FEERBEERBEE 485 BRIt
NRTFHEFRABERBENE 7 E
EREHEEZRETZENESRIL
—IERH I RAEE B (T]REE S
) BEEHEAABIZEAE
EHFE HRUR IR Bl R IBREE 5
B -BEEZRHEEEBRM B HET
HUREAHEEEBRBRAN 5% ERRF
s A EBAU A 30,000 FxH b
MR o

HE_Z-_—EFR_F-__F£+_H1
=+ —RHIEFEE AEETERES T
BT HAEEREIRA HRK
THERBRMHHR-N B —FR T
T CE+ZRA=+—H - hEmEET
BE T2 AERBRERRKRERE
FES TRz BB UM R -

BHE_ -+ _"_HB=+—HILEF
E-AEERREESAEENREN
B AR EE 2 1,052,000 B0 (2
Z—F:1,091,000 8 %) ERNEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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797 g = |

RA TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included one (2021: one) director whose (& - —
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
in note 16(a). The emoluments of the remaining four
(2021: four) individuals are set out below:

(b) EaEEHMAL
FEEZALREBHMEESE A
F—%) BF H® ¥
1B B H LMY T 16(a)o #f FIO 4 (=
T —FINR) ATHBR BT

15. EEEFR ()

2022 2021
—E-— T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Basic salaries and allowances EitFhe fo2hh 5,809 5,561
Discretionary bonus BISTEAL 4,539 4,809
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3B R%@F] 5T 2IEFT 54 54
10,402 10,424
The emoluments fell within the following band: MENFT5EE:
Number of individuals
A

2022 2021
—E_C ET—F
Nil to HK$1,500,000 ETF 1,500,000 7T = -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7&7522,000,0007 7T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001787c%E2,500,0008 7% = -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00187c%E 3,000,000 7 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017875%E3,500,00078 71 = -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001787c% 4,000,000 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001787c 24,500,000 7T 1 -
4 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EEEM RH =
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The remuneration of each director is set out below: EREENMEHEIIUWT:
Salaries, Estimated
allowance money Contributions
and other value to retirement
benefits in of other Discretionary benefits
Fees kind benefits bonus scheme Total
HftiiERIE
HaEMRk AR bt el
e HtEWEN EfE BRIt HEGE izt
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$°000
TR TR TAR TR TAT TEn
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_E__F
+ZB=1—HILEE
Executive Directors BiTEE
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol A—-Fat 830 - 1,643 - - 2,473
Mr. Chan Wai Lung MRkt
(Chief executive officer) (frEe®) 120 1,320 - - 18 1,458
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MERZT 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Lin Ting MEZL 300 - - - - 300
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUIEHITES
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BT 144 - - - - 144
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FHALL 102 - - - - 102
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP Ehaut
HEHEE X THT 120 - - - - 120
1,796 1,320 1,643 - 18 4,771
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZT_-F
+ZA=t—HILEE
Executive Directors BiTEE
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol A-Fzt 180 - - 500 - 680
Mr. Chan Wai Lung' RiERELE
(Chief executive officer) (indez)) 120 1,320 - - 18 1,458
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MERZT 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Lin Ting MEZT 300 - - - - 300
Ms. So Wai Yee Betty? BEREL? 428 - - - 14 442
Independent non-executive Directors  BUFFHTESR
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BiEL RS 144 - - - - 144
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean ESit oo 102 - - - - 102
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 8BS, JP Biaut
EHEE AT 120 - - - - 120
1,574 1,320 - 500 32 3,426
1 Mr Chan Wai Lung was appointed as the chief executive 1 BRERAEN S _—F+_ANBESE
officer on 9 December 2021 BITEARE
2 Ms. So Wai Yee Betty resigned on 17 September 2021 2 HERZINE—FNB+HHHT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

RA TR R MY 5E

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

Director’s termination benefits

None of the Directors received any termination benefits
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company did not pay considerations to any third

parties for making available Directors’ services (2021:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and
entities connected with such directors

As at 31 December 2022, there are no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of the Directors,

their controlled bodies corporate and the Directors’
connected entities (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a Director and
the Director’'s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

17.DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment for any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

18.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is
based on the following:

17. 1S

ARBEETRERBEE_S__E+=
B=+—HUEEERIEARE (Z2=—
) o

18. FHRESIE

SREARBIERDEUTHRESE!

2022 2021
- TE &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

Loss for the purpose of calculating basic M EEREARESEIEMS
and diluted loss per share Z K518 (27,156) (24,950)
Number of shares K& E ’000 ’000
Thg TFh&

Weighted average number of ordinary shares it BEREAREEFEMS

in issue for the purpose of calculation of BETEERMNE T

basic and diluted loss per share 126,058 126,058

The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used as
denominators in calculating the basic and diluted earnings
per share are the same as no assumption on the exercise of
the Company’s outstanding share options, which the effect
of potential ordinary shares is anti-dilutive.

HRIERKRFADEEETESBERKE
EREZHARTEBREESE RAEE
SERAREERNEREISZEERM
BFH#UBER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n\7|-\ j- ? $E§B11-L$

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE _ &~ —F+_H=+—

HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. V¥ - E K& E

Computer  Furniture
equipment and Leasehold Other Motor  Construction
and software fixtures improvements equipment vehicle in process Total
BElZRERRN FRREE HENERE  HthRE AE £EE st
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHT TAT THRT FHT THRT THT FHT
Cost 7%
At 1 January 2021 RZ2Z-%5—F—H 20,069 665 2,536 482 743 - 24,495
Additions hE 432 - - - - - 432
Write-off Wiss (106) (72) (690) - - - (868)
At 31 December 2021 and $-—F+-A=1+-H
1 January 2022 ,Q:ZE B—H 20,395 593 1,846 482 743 - 24,059
Additions hE 1,018 - - - - 1,180 2,198
Disposal HE (20) (65) (137) - - - (222)
At 31 December 2022 RIZ2Z"H+-F=1+-H 21,393 528 1,709 482 743 1,180 26,035
Accumulated depreciation & ﬁﬂﬁ%
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—-&5—F-H 19,447 589 2,327 482 136 - 22,981
Charge for the year FREHE 456 34 115 - 149 - 754
Write-off Wi (102) (69) (690) - - - (861)
At 31 December 2021 and RIEZ-5+ZA=+-H
1 January 2022 RZEZZF—F—H 19,801 554 1,752 482 285 - 22,874
Charge for the year FRsHE 504 2 3 - 149 - 658
Disposal HE 7 (28) (46) - - - (81)
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZE+ZA=+-H 20,298 528 1,709 482 434 - 23451
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZE+ZA=+—H 1,095 - - - 309 1,180 2,584
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—4+°B=1+—H 594 39 94 - 458 - 1,185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out two car parking spaces located in
Hong Kong under operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of
one year. The leases of car parking spaces annual lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated
in HK$. The lease contracts do not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessees’ option to purchase the property
at the end of lease term.

20. IREYE

AEERBEEHEEBUNEBHME
FEA WA WEEE—RME HEN
NPEMB—F - HEFEUNFHESNE
EfABEE-

HIRFAEESUBTHE RAERTE
FHESZHMARINERE - HESALE
HERGEERERR HABARBRGS
REBEYENEEE-

2022
—E_C
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January w—B—H -
Additions NE 4,011
Fair value loss N BERBE (1,411)
At 31 December W+-_B=+—H 2,600

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2022
on the open market value basis by reference to market
evidence of recent transactions for similar properties by
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent
firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for investment properties was derived using the
market comparable approach based on recent market
prices of comparable properties without any significant
adjustment being made to the market observable data.

REMER _ T __F+_-_A=+—HH
BIUKFFAEMABRh=EARTEER
NERARTIBEEREEL 2 RTHRER
MERZZHIGRBETEMR.

SEYEDRATHBEBOAEE 2T
GRBRRBE (REEFERER) ZFL
B REHHES L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. (EHESE
Leased
properties
HEME
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 January 2021 A TE—F—F—H 11,399
Additions hE 9,968
Depreciation rEe (6,865)
At 31 December 2021 and RZIE2_—F+"RB=+—HkK
1 January 2022 —E2-"F#—A—H 14,502
Additions wE 3,129
Early termination IRE#&IE (845)
Depreciation HreEe (7,889)
At 31 December 2022 WZE_—_#+”-A=+—H 8,897
2022 2021
—E-= B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use FHRREEITENS
assets 7,889 6,865
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMN SRS
(included in finance cost) (Gt AR R 592 640
Expenses relating to short-term lease BT E AR
(included in administrative expenses) Gt ATTHRAR) - 30
Gain on termination of lease KIFFAE W 32 -

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
41(b).

For both years, the Group leases various offices, car parking
space and residential unit for its operations and a director’s
quarter. Lease contracts are entered into fixed terms from
two to five years, but may have termination options to
terminate the lease contract of properties. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

22

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
17177 N

R F5 R R M E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

Some leases include an option to terminate before the end
of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks
to exclude termination options exercisable by the Group to
provide operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to
exercise the termination options. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the termination options, the future lease
payments between the date of termination and end of
the contract term are not included in the measurement of

21. EREEE (@)

lease liabilities. The potential exposure to these future lease

payments is summarised below:

Lease liabilities
recognised (discounted)

ETHEEERGNERATRILERE
H-EBRITHERT AEESKGHF
AEBMATENKIEESE URHESEE
EteAEENEERKBNNEREERES
ENBETEKRLEER - HAEEAGHE
PIBETERIEEER ARIEBRESY
HERZBNRRBEMNRIFAERES
BRIt ETR L FRFBENRBBE AR
BT

Potential future lease
payments not included
in lease liabilities
(undiscounted)

FetAHEGRDN

R (BN HEEE AReRKRBEELIR REAIR)
2022 2021 2022 2021
== B | ZIEC T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFET FAET FHET
Director’s quarter EEES 2,597 - 1,588 -
.GOODWILL 22. /&
2022 2021
== B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FER
Cost [
At 1 January and 31 December RW—A—BEkt+ZHE=+—H 17,773 17,773
Accumulated impairment losses Rt ERSE
At 1 January w—HB—H 17,773 11,047
Impairment loss recognised in the current year ~ RAFEEIDZREEE - 6,726
At 31 December R+ZB=+—~H 17,773 17,773
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

22. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (‘CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The

22, HE (48)

REBSHPUBEZEEDRRBE DK
ERREZESOHEa RS ELE BN
(TReEELEM) - BEZREESDE

carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows: wr:
2022
St
Allocated Accumulated
goodwill impairment Total
EnfiEs RERE 485t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAET FAT
Stored valued mastercard business B EEHAE RER
(“Mastercard CGU”) (note (a)) (TBEERRSESE
8B1ul) (B52(a) 6,726 (6,726) -
Trading of gaming products and B E R E m R IR AR
the provision of related marketing HERBES (TEEIRE
services business EEEBAL) (et b)
(“*Gaming CGU”) (note (b)) 10,295 (10,295) -
Other IT and internet financial HE AR & B A
platform services business ST ERBERS
(note (c)) (Hizt(c) 752 (752) -
17,773 (17,773) -
2021
—B-—F
Allocated  Accumulated
goodwill impairment Total
BEnficmE RKEtEE “aEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT FET
Mastercard CGU BEERRESELEN 6,726 (6,726) -
Gaming CGU BEIREES B[ 10,295 (10,295) -
Other IT and internet financial HE&E AR R BB
platform services business ERTERBERS 752 (752) -
17,773 (17,773) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE _ZE_ " F+_B=+—HILFE

22. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

The Group acquired 51% of the equity interest of Metrotec Limited
on 7 September 2020. The goodwill arising from the acquisition
was allocated to Mastercard CGU.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined on the basis
of its value-in-use using discounted cash flow method. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow method were those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates, card consumption
volume and revenue during the period. The Group estimated
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the CGU. The growth rates were based on long-term average
economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the
businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and
revenue and operating costs were based on past practices and
expectations on market development.

The Group prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the Directors for the next five
years with the residual period using the growth rate of 2% in 2021.
This rate did not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant markets.

The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecasted cash flows from
the Group’s Mastercard CGU was 23.68% in 2021.

The recoverable amount of this CGU in 2021 was below the
carrying amount of the CGU of which the assets belong.
Mastercard CGU did not perform as expected because of:

(i) potential customers could not visit Hong Kong due to travel
restrictions imposed as a result of the prolong COVID-19
pandemic; and

(ii) the indefinite delay in launching the Mastercard business
in Kazakhstan due to the economic instability under the
prolong COVID-19 pandemic.

Accordingly, the Group revised its cash flow forecasts for this CGU.
The CGU was reduced to its recoverable amount to nil. Impairment
loss of HK$6,726,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The Group acquired the entire equity interest of Darts Connect
International Limited on 9 August 2018. The goodwill arising
from the acquisition was allocated to Gaming CGU. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, due to the substantial decline in
sales and profit margin as impacted by poor social and economic
conditions in Hong Kong, the Group assessed its cash flows
forecast for this CGU and reduced its recoverable amount to zero.

The Group acquired the entire equity interest of Well In Technology
Development Limited on 22 August 2014. The goodwill arising
from the acquisition was allocated to the CGU of Other IT and
internet financial platform services business. During the year ended
31 December 2015, due to the recoverable amount of this CGU
was found to be less than its carrying amount, the Group reduced
its recoverable amount to zero.

22. HE (48)

hzz:

(@)

RIZEZZ2EFAATtH ZEBWE Metrotec
L|m|ted251%Hﬂ¥ BZWEFEEZHERE
NEEEEEFRREGESEN-

ReEEBUNTREISELREAMRRSR
BASENEREEET - BWRRENBIEFTR
ANEERRDAIAAAEURE B REH
BRRWmIRR - A EEF AR RRERI TS E
BB ENTERIRE ELBUNSERRG
MATF RES IR G REFRDUIRES EEE
REEBRTMENRATIICEERE RS-
AR R s R AR Rl AT LUB 1B 6 K TRE

AEBFBLNRS RBBARSESANES
RS B SRR R EL B =)
BIRNINEE A 2% B EETBBRANTH
BT R R

RIZ--—FRUMRRBFEREFEFRR
TELEBEMUZBARERBOBRRANER
28.68%°
RIZ_—FZREELEUMNAWEISEER
EEMBRESELEUNREE BFEFRS
EEBM RIRAITER tT5E

(i) BRIEEE AN COVID-19 BIEMEITH
IR EBEER A E LD E &

@iy  BERIFAR COVID-19 EIEE ML E R IE
BRI A E R ATEES S
ER¥ER-

Hit AEEERZREEEEMUBBHRER
B -ZREELEBUZIREISEDSRRE
Hit BE-_F_—F+_A=+—HLFE &
{BA518 6,726,000 BT ETIREME

N N\FN\BNE  AEEEIERIRERER
ﬁﬁE@TZ%ﬁBEﬁE HRWEMEEZEEE
NEEBRREELBM -BE_T—NF+_A
=+—HILFE AR REBHEREKRERE
T HBREFTHIRAE T AEET G
ZRTELBEURSAEFE TRHETKES

HREZ -

RIEB—NENB+_H AEEWERER K
BRARABDZ2HRE  ERWBEREEZRH
BENEEAMBEAR R A EMBEERT RS
ZREEEBEM -HE_T—AF+_A=+—H
HFE AR SERZ[EELBMUAIREIEER
DRHEEREE A ERFEAIRESERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

23.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. |2 B E
Systems
development
costs
ERON 0%
HK$’000
FAT
Cost s
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, AR —F—-B—H 2%
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 +-BA=+—H8-ZFZF—H—HBK
B2 F+-HB=+—H 7,711
Accumulated amortisation Retigty
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, A2 —F—F—B- I —F
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 +ZA=+—8B-Z2_"F—HF—Hk
2 TF+ZR=+—H 7,711
Net carrying amount BREFE
At 31 December 2022 N2 F+ZHA=+—H -
At 31 December 2021 A2 —F+"HA=+—H -

Intangible assets of internally generated development costs
represented all direct costs incurred in the development of
new software systems. The software development costs are

amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful

lives of 4 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

24.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

24. RMBABZIRE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December FEWBRABNR_E-_F+-"B=+—
2022 are as follows: HZ#HBWOT:
Principal place of Percentage
operation/Place of Issued/ of equity
incorporation/Kind registered attributable to
Name of legal entity share capital the Company  Principal activities
TEMENE EMAIN B#7/ AT
28 ARV IN-:-F iR Re#ELh  FEXRH
Brilliant Corporate Finance Hong Kong/Limited HK$6,700,000 100% (indirect)  Inactive
Limited (note) liability company
RUCEMERRAR (H3t) &8/ BREFAT 6,700,000/ 7T 100% (5 EHESE
Dealmatch.com Limited Hong Kong/Limited HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of referral services and
liability company provision of administrative
support of the Group
EFEERAT &8/ BREFAT 10087 100% (B#) RESNEEREGTHIETE
£8
Darts Connect International Hong Kong/Limited HK$795,032.21 100% (indirect)  Trading of gaming products and
Limited liability company provision of related marketing
services
REHBERFRAR &8/ BREFAT 795,032.21%7C 100% (B BEDHERRRHEEEERS
DSE Cayman Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$10.73 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
Company limited
by shares
DSE Gayman Limited BERE/ 10.73%7T 100% (E#)  B&EER
RABRAS
Finsoft Finance Limited Hong Kong/Limited HK$100 100% (indirect) ~ Money lending
) liability company ‘
BHMETBRAR &8/ BREMAT 1007 100% (B B8
Finsoft Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong/Limited HK$100 100% (indirect)  Securities and equity investments
liability company
EEEE (BH) BRAD &8/ BREFAT 1007 100% () #FkEEkE
Finsoft Investment Limited BVI/Company limited Us$100 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
by shares
Finsoft Investment Limited RERZHES/ KM 10057 100% (i) BEER
BRAS
Gracious Queen Limited BVI/Company limited US$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative support
by shares to the Group
Gracious Queen Limited HEBELES/ 17T 100% (B4  BAEERMETRZE
B BERAE
Grant Ambition Limited Hong Kong/Limited HK$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative support
liability company to the Group
BERABRAT &8/ BREFAT 1A 100% (B%) RAEERETHSE
Golden Spade Investment Limited Hong Kong/Limited HK$1 100% (indirect)  Securities investments
liability company
ENEERRAT &8/ BREFAT 18T 100% (B#%) HHEKE
iAsia Online Systems Limited BVI/Company limited US$10 100% (indirect)  Development, sale and provision
(“iAsia”) by shares of financial trading software
solutions
S LRFERAT (T248)) ERELHEE/ 10%7T 100% (B#) HE HERRESHIZANHEA
BHERAE VES

Note: The subsidiary has been dissolved on 13 January 2023.

maz:

WBABER S _=F—B+=HfH"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

24. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 24. R B AT ZIRE (8)
(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December FEWBABIRZE_ZH4+="B=+—
2022 are as follows: (continued) HzZsBWT: (8)
Principal place of Percentage
operation/Place of Issued/ of equity
incorporation/Kind registered attributable to
Name of legal entity share capital the Company  Principal activities
FTEEEN RIS B8/ AR
28 RIS AR R WitA B
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited BVI/Company limited US$10,000 100% (direct)  Investment holding
by shares
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited HBRLEE/ 10,000%7¢ 100% (B#) KEER
RHERAE
Metrotec Limited BVI/Company limited US$36,100 51% (direct)  Investment holding
by shares
Metrotec Limited HEBRYHES/ 36,100%7T 51% (E%®) REERK
BN ERAE
Metrotec Solutions Limited (“MSL”") Hong Kong/Limited HK$17,031,300 51% (indirect)  Provision of marketing and
liability company operation of stored valued
masetercards
Metrotec Solutions Limited ("MSL.) BB/ BRETAT 17,031,300 70 51% (B REUEBSEHEFEEREE
Wealthy Link Technology Limited Hong Kong/Limited HK$1 100% (indirect)  Development of financial trading
liability company software solutions
HEREBRAT &8/ BREMAT 187 100% (%) HESHIZRHBAFR
Well In Technology Development Hong Kong/Limited HK$1 100% (indirect)  Development of mobile
Limited liability company e-commerce platform
REREZERBRAR &8/ BREMAT 18T 100% (B HEBHEFEHTE
Winrange Investments Limited BVI/Company limited US$100 100% (direct)  Investment holding
by shares
RIBREBRAT HEBRYHES/ 100%7% 100% (E#) RETR
BHERAE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERBINANDEEDABERERXER
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the BEENEBEBEIECENARBNB RSB
results or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details ARBEERA BV TREMBBRB 25
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, B ELERENBR TR

result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

25.INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 25. N—HEEEEZRE
2022 2021
-z T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Unlisted investment: REFERE:

Share of net assets EIEEEFE 93 102
Detail of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2022 is rEBEBSEEERZZE_Z_F+ZA
as follows: =t+—HZHBOT:

Proportion of ownership interest
RS
Place of Issued and fully Group’s
incorporation/  paid up share effective Held by the Held by a
Name of entity operation capital interest Company subsidiary Principal activities
MM BETR TEEZE HAAFE h—H
BELE Ptk BRRE 234 BE MWBAARE IEEHR
Sky View Investment BVI US$1,100 49% Nil 49%  Investment in Rolaner
Limited (“Sky View") (2021: 49%) (2021: Nil) (2021: 49%) International
Limited (“Rolaner”)
FELEBRAE (TKE)) HEEYEHE 1,100%7T 49% = 49%  HRolaner International
(CB--F (ZBZ-&: (ZBZ-# Limited ("Rolaner.)
49%) ) 49%) ZRE
Sky View is an investment holding company and its main XKEDLKEZERAS MEFEEEARE
asset is investment in Rolaner, a company incorporated in Rolaner (RN HEHEEXMMIIZER
the Cayman Islands with limited liability. Rolaner indirectly ANTF) 2z EoRolaner R Z 6 — K&
controls an operating company. The principal business of RERWERNFIZFEXBANFTEARHE
the operating company is operating the online community MEKEERERTENTETERS
and e-commerce platforms for medical beauty industry in [EEERE=E

the People’s Republic of China.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

25.

26.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s
share of the amount of the immaterial joint venture that are
accounted for using the equity method.

25. R—HEEREZKRE (@)

TRIITAEBRBGERRDEAROFT
BEMNFERGEABNMEER-

2022 2021
—E_— BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
At 31 December: ®+ZA=+—8:

Carrying amounts of interests 2 IREE 93 102

Year ended 31 December: HE+-B=1+—HLHFE:
Loss for the year FEREE (9) ()
Loss and other comprehensive income BEREMEEmRA (9) (7)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has not provided
commitment to provide funding for the joint venture. The
Group also did not share the contingent liabilities incurred
by the joint venture.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

N B THFFZR=FT—H FrERLE
FHEEE AR REESHAE - REETT
BOGAEREEEENHRER

26. R ERBZKE

2022 2021
—F=Z T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET

Unlisted investments: REMEE:
Share of net assets ELEEFE 276 637
Goodwill mE 760 760
1,036 1,397
Less: impairment loss (note) R ERE (HaE) (760) -
276 1,397

Note:

The Group acquired 50% of the equity interest in Square Box Limited
(“Square Box”) in 2021 at a consideration of HK$1,500,000. The goodwill
arising from the acquisition is included in the investments in associates.
Before impairment testing conducted in 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill of Square Box was HK$760,000. The operation of Square Box
did not perform as expected because of the social distancing measures
imposed by the government under the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic
that face-to-face activities were largely restricted. This caused the
management of Square Box could not reach to potential customers or
business partners to promote their APP for business.

Accordingly, the Group had revised its cash flow forecasts for this
associate according to the current situation. The recoverable amount
of the CGU had been substantially reduced to the net assets value
of Square Box. Therefore, impairment losses of HK$760,000 was
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

26.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2022 is
as follows:

26. REHE QAT ZKRE (48)

AEBBERITDNZ
=t+—BZFBIOT:

BE__&#+°AH

Proportion of ownership interest

BERREREELLE
Place of Issued and Group’s
incorporation/ fully paid up effective Held by the Held by a
Name of entity operation share capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
AL, TEEZ B—H
BRELiE e BETRBERET BREZ  RFRAEEE WBARRE IEEH
Square Box Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,100 50% Nil 50%  Provision of information
(2021: Nil) (2021: 50%) thru self-developed
APP
Square Box Limited &8 1,500,100 7T 50% i 50% EBETRENERER
(CEZ-F8) (CZT-F50%) RIEER
Metrotec Solutions AIFC Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 20% Nil 20%  Investment holding
(2021: Nil) (2021: 20%)
Metrotec Solutions AIFC Limited &% 10,0007T 20% = 20% REER
(CE-—F:1E) (CZ-—F:120%)
Metrotec Limited Kazakhstan US$1 20% Nil 20%  Not yet commenced
(2021: Nil) (2021: 20%) business
Metrotec Limited le3a i 1% 20% & 20% HARBREZE

(‘ﬁ‘—izﬁs) (ZBZ—F:120%)

—_—

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share
of the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that
are accounted for using the equity method.

TRITAE B G E R mE AR
EEBIFERBHEABNMEER-

2022 2021
—E-= B4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FExT
At 31 December: ®W+=ZBA=+—8H:

Carrying amounts of interests R REE 276 1,397

Year ended 31 December: BE+-RBA=1+—HILEE:
Loss for the year FAEIE (361) (105)
Loss and other comprehensive income EIEREMEmEmIA (361) (105)

The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting
to HK$30,000 (2021: HK$18,000) for Metrotec Solutions
AIFC Limited. The accumulated loss not recognised was
HK$48,000 (2021: HK$18,000).

As at 31 December 2022, all the associates did not have
any significant commitment or contingent liabilities. In
addition, the Group did not have capital commitment to
provide funding for any of the associates.

KEBERE RN Metrotec Solutions AIFC
Limited KHEREIE %A 30,000 Bt (Z &
——4:18,000 B T) c Rt KR EEF
%875 48,000 BT (ZE2 - —4:18,000 &
7o) ©

A B _HF+_RB=+—RFEHBEA
AHETAEAAKERIAE B I &

ERTEFEAENBREQATREESHN
BREE-
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iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

27.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

27. B FEESARMZEKBAZ

EREE
2022 2021
—EBCF =T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Listed equity security EHRAES 364 1,158

The fair value of listed security is based on current bid price.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at

FVTOCI are denominated in HKS$.

PEEET ATEEDREEE Y S8E
steo

AEFRATEESNAEMEZARAZS
MEEZIREENBTFE.

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES . B REMEWERIE
2022 2021
=B B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Trade receivables B EWRTIE 2,024 5,033
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note 6(c)) B REREE (M15E6(c) (94) (115)
1,930 4,918
Other receivables HAhpEwEa 184 106
Deposits b 3,269 4,225
Prepayments FENRIE 3,381 2,413
8,764 11,662

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30
days or not more than 90 days to its trade customers and
based on the negotiations between the Group and individual
customers. No interest is charged on trade receivables.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the

invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

4= A
17177 N

R F5 R R M E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

28. B 5 R E thFE IR IE (48)

REZARRNGERREZIINEZ R
AR ERE DTN T

2022 2021
ZEZZHF BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHEx
0 — 30 days 0&30H 1,068 2,082
31 - 60 days 31&E60H 385 1,360
61 — 90 days 61E90H 30 17
91 - 120 days 91&120H 134 80
Over 120 days Bi®120H 313 1,379
1,930 4,918

CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES 29. 5B E B8R

(a) Contract assets (a) BHNEE
2022 2021
—E_C T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Arising from performance under BITUTEEES
— System customisation, network — AT ENPE TR

support and maintenance service RER 151 -
— Software licensing services — AT AR TS 450 330
601 330

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due
from customers from sales of technology software
systems and system customisation, network support
and maintenance service which the performance

obligations have been satisfied.

HENBEERBNZERRE R I
HERMRT AR RIEHRFTRE
BEERFRERY (HBROEEEEE
BR) 2 #E R

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Contract liabilities

20. ENEE AR (@

(b) EHEE

2022 2021
—F=-= BT —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET

Contract liabilities ==L
— Sales of merchandise —HEEMR 1,885 4,142
— Provision of services — 1R AR 8,071 7,223
9,956 11,365

Contract liabilities include short-term advances
received to deliver software solutions and render
installation, development, testing and maintenance
services.

There were no significant changes in the contract
liabilities balances during the reporting period.

Movements in contract liabilities:

BENBEREEXNRG S EURER
22 B8~ i 3 R A R A BB AR 75 T W B BY
FEHTRE(I e

RESHN aNaERENEERE

2022 2021
—E—-- T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Balance at 1 January R—B—HBZ#&8F 11,365 11,958
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RERBREDFTAGHNEEN
of recognising revenue during the year WmmERaNasmmL,
that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of year (9,082) (9,350)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of — KFERUREFET ZIE
advances received during the year MERSAEEEMN 7,673 8,757
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—HzZ 4 9,956 11,365

There is no billings in advance of performance received
that is expected to be recognised as income after
more than one year (2021: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

30. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

30. R E R FI2

2022 2021

-z T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Loan receivables FEWE™R 93,960 115,732
Less: impairment losses (note 6(c)) BORERTE (K136(c) (56,385) (65,807)
37,575 49,925

Interest receivables FE USR] B 4,101 5,284
Less: impairment losses (note 6(c)) BOREETR (B2E6(c) (2,399) (2,567)
1,702 2,717

Loan and interest receivables EWER K E 39,277 52,642
Less: non-current portion B IETREER (2,718) -
Loan and interest receivables (current portion) R ERF) B CRENIE D) 36,559 52,642

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding loan receivables so as to minimise credit risk.
The granting of loans is subject to approval by the credit
committee, whilst overdue balances are reviewed regularly
for recoverability.

As at 31 December 2022, the loan receivables were
charging on interest rates ranging from 8% to 21.6% per
annum (2021: 8% to 33.6% per annum) and were repayable
with fixed terms agreed with the contracting parties. The
Group held collateral or other credit enhancement over its
loan receivables balance of HK$5,163,000 (net of provision
of impairment loss of HK$2,737,000) (2021: HK$4,962,000
(net of provision of impairment loss of HK$1,238,000)), and
loan receivable balance of HK$32,412,000 (net of provision
of impairment loss of HK$53,648,000) were unsecured
(2021: HK$44,963,000 (net of provision of impairment loss
of HK$64,569,000)).

Included in loan receivables is a loan with principal amount
of HK$2,800,000 lent to a related company which a
director of its ultimate holding company is also a Director.
It bears interest of 8% per annum with maturity date on 22
December 2024. The amount is guaranteed by the ultimate
holding company of the borrower. Details of such loan is set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 December
2022.

AEERDHAHREE BB ERES
BREE BUEERREERAR -EHE
HMERAREFEZE G /& MARGHA
RS W B EIT R -

RIE-__F#+__A=+—H EkE&HE
MENFEESH E21.6% (- —F:
FE 8% X 33.6%) st B WEKITN G W
EHECHREE AEEREERER
4585 5,163,000 B (N EBEE B
2,737,000 &) FHBHENEMEERFA
(& —4:4,962,000 % 7 (30 Bz
FERIEE# 1,238,000 ET) REKRE
FEEER 32,412,000 78 7T (30 BRI E B 48 £
% 53,648,000 Bm) AEER(ZE I —
144,963,000 A 7T (30 BRI (B K5 18 B 6
64,569,000 &) ) ©

EWERTEIE—%4A%% 2,800,000 &
TEFEF—BEEAD (HREKERA
AZ—REBENAXANTDESR) Z2RE £
MEA8% HNHEAAB_ZS_NME+_H
"+ HeZRERERANERARE
R-BBEFNEBHNEAATHEAL S
T CHE+ZAZ+=AMAE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

30. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Movements on the Group’s impairment of loan and interest

receivables are as follows:

REEZEW

30. R E ™R F B (48)

EMKRMEBRELEWT:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
PEER1 PEER2 PEEL3
12{8 8 TaHA 2HATEHA ZHTRHR
=88 =88 =88 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AT THET THET FERT
At 1 January 2021 R —F—-F—H 426 4,662 53,913 59,001
New loans originated BB ZIER 3 106 - 109
Loans recovered or repaid during the year REREKRETEEZER &) - - ©)
Loans written off during the year RERMBER - - (3,892) (3,892)
Movements due to changes in credit risk RIEERKRESES 2 28 4,328 1,131 7,700 13,159
Transfer to Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL HEERE -2 HBHBEEHA (1,009) 1,349 (340) -
Transfer to Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL EEERES-2HBEHREEHE (3,733) (5,152) 8,885 -
At 31 December 2021 and RIZZ—F+ZA=+—Hk
1 January 2022 B _F#—-B—H 12 2,096 66,266 68,374
New loans originated EBRBZITER 90 - 1,000 1,090
Loans recovered or repaid during the year ~ RERBKESHEEZEHR - (26) = (26)
Loans written off during the year RERMEER - - (10,339) (10,339)
Movements due to changes in credit risk sERREBMELZEE 1,700 4,140 (6,155) (315)
Transfer to Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL HRERR2-2HEREEHE (107) 107 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL ERERRERS -2 HEREESE (1,601) (3,611) 5,212 -
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—&+=-B=+—H 94 2,706 55,984 58,784

For loan and interest receivables that are not credit-impaired
without significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition (“Stage 17”), ECL is measured at an amount
equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default
events possible within the next 12 months. If a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified
(“Stage 2”) but not yet deemed to be credit-impaired, ECL
is measured based on lifetime ECL. If credit impaired is
identified (“Stage 3”), ECL is measured based on lifetime
ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

30. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the remaining contractual
maturity date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

30. R E ™R FI 2 (48)

REBESHAR BBRERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

FREAEEAR

(NBRBEER) NEIBABE RO T:

2022 2021

—EIHF B —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FET

Overdue prnpsts 31,517 46,032
Due within 3 months NCHESRANEIE 50 950
Due after 3 months but within 6 months H3EREE6EA NEIHA 2,343 2,943
Due after 6 months but within 12 months HeEBBE12/E8 REIER 947 -
Due after 12 months R12{E B & EIH 2,718 -
Total 485t 37,575 49,925

A maturity profile of the interest receivables at the end of
the reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of

provision, is as follows:

RERSHAR BWH SREZAE GORE

) BEIEIE R T

2022 2021

—E-CHF 2T

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET BT

Overdue prnpsts 1,698 2,689
Due within 3 months R3EA REIH 4 28
Total 4Bst 1,702 2,717

EMERIREERARAE o 2022FFH
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31. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

1. BAFEESFABaNERMEE

2022 2021

-z T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Listed equity investments, at fair value EHERAKE HATEE 5,303 10,619

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are
mandatorily measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS

9.

The investments included above represent investments in
listed equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity
for return through dividend income and fair value gains.

They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed securities are based on current bid

prices.

There is concentration of risk in respect of the financial
assets at FVTPL because all the equity investments held by

the Group were listed in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

32.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. HERHEEZEEY

2022 2021
—EF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Cash and bank balances BB RIRITHEER 25,567 35,163
Cash balances at other financial institutions REMEREENIRSERR 1,378 2,381
26,945 37,544
The carrying amount of the Group’s cash and cash FEBREABEEEEMIRAEFEN

equivalents is mainly denominated in HK$. BIoEt{Ee

33. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 33. st E R R EH Mg RRIE

2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Customers deposits BEREE 9,812 11,077
Provision for bonus TEAL B 6,789 5,865
Due to an associate B —EHE AT IE 509 315
Other payables and accruals HEMENRIBRESER 3,913 4,275
21,023 21,532
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

34. LEASE LIABILITIES

34.fAE&&E

Total minimum
lease payments

Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

RIETHE(IFRARRE RERASCFIRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
TECCE T —F |IEBEZZE |TTZ”"—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET FAT TFAET
Within one year —FR 7,073 8,184 6,871 7,637
More than one year, but BiB—FEREBEMmE
not exceeding two years 1,565 6,139 1,511 5,969
More than two years, but BB E R BE AT
not exceeding five years 722 1,116 690 1,044
9,360 15,439 9,072 14,650
Less: Future finance charges TR TS B A (288) (789) N/A N/A
Present value of lease obligations HEaERE 9,072 14,650 9,072 14,650
Less: Amount due for settlement B12EBNEIREEY
within 12 months (shown B BRmE
under current liabilities) BEET) (6,871) (7,637)
Amount due for settlement 128 B B RIHEEREZIB
after 12 months 2,201 7,013

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities ranging from 4.83% to 5.38% (2021: from

4.83% to 5.5%).

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

T B 0 2 T 58 (S AR
T F 4.83% E 5.38% (ZF-—:4.83%

£ 5.5%)°



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

35. DEFERRED TAX 35. IRIEFRIE
The following are the deferred tax (assets)/liabilities AEBRIDZELERE (BE) /BBW T

recognised by the Group.

Decelerated
tax Right-of-use

depreciation assets Total
WIRIRIEE FREEE st
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET FHET
At 1 January 2021 BW_Z—_—%—HF—H (2006) 19 (187)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss RE&ENE GEA)
(note 13) (H15213) 29 (15) 14
At 31 December 2021 and RIZZ—F+ZB=+—HK
1 January 2022 —E--#-B—Q (177) 4 (173)
Charged to profit or loss (note 13) RIEEBR (F7a£13) 97 - 97
At 31 December 2022 RIZEZZF+ZA=+—H (80) 4 (76)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused R|REBER AEETARBHEEARENZ
tax losses of approximately HK$228,051,000 (2021: REEMIEEIEL 228,051,000 BT (Z
HK$196,294,000) available for offset against future profits. T —4:196,294,000 B T) c AN E L
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the FEOAI R 2R ) 2ROR » R LG 0 fR mi R Eh AR AR IR
unused tax losses of approximately HK$228,051,000 (2021: 53849 228,051,000 B R EIERIBE
HK$196,294,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit E(ZZE_-—9:196,294,000 B7T) ©
streams.
36. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION 36. (FEUR) FETERSALE
(RECEIVABLE)/PAYABLE
2022 2021
—E-=F e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FERT
At fair value: BAFEE:
At beginning of the year REH (6,182) 21
Change in fair value NEEEES) (1,162) (6,208)
(7,344) (6,182)
Less: impairment losses (note 6(c)) BORERE (KF6(c) 367 =
At end of the year RER (6,977) (6,182)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RR M

4\

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE _ &~ —F+_HB=+—HILFE

36.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
(RECEIVABLE)/PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

36. (FEW) ~FE(TSRIAALLE (&)

2022 2021
—s-= —=-—f
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Analysed as: DI
Current assets MEEE (6,977) -
Non-current assets JEREEE = (6,182)
(6,977) (6,182)
The fair value of the contingent consideration (receivable)/ (FEUR) /EENIARENAFEEEA

payable represented the profit guarantee provided by the
vendor in relation to the adjustments to the consideration
for the acquisition of Metrotec Limited and its subsidiary
(“Metrotec Group”) during the year ended 31 December
2020. Contingent consideration (receivable)/payable is
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The adjustment to the consideration was disclosed below.

Adjustment to the consideration

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement entered in relation
to the acquisition of the Metrotec Group, the vendor unconditionally
and irrevocably guaranteed and warranted to the Company that the
aggregate of audited earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation of the Metrotec Group for the three financial years ended
31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 as reflected in its audited financial
statements (“Audited EBITDA”) shall not be less than the total sum of
HK$8,000,000 (“Guaranteed EBITDA”).

If the Audited EBITDA is equal to or more than the Guaranteed
EBITDA, the Company shall pay the remaining consideration in sum of
HK$8,976,000 (“Balance Consideration”). No upward adjustment shall be
made if the Audited EBITDA has reached and exceeded the Guaranteed
EBITDA.

If the Audited EBITDA is less than the Guaranteed EBITDA but is equal
to or more than the sum of HK$3,600,000, the Company shall pay the
vendor the Balance Consideration based on the following formula:

Balance Consideration = (Audited EBITDA * 4 * 51%) — HK$7,344,000.

If the Audited EBITDA is less than the Guaranteed EBITDA and lower
than the sum of HK$3,600,000, the vendor shall compensate the
Company in the amount calculated (“Compensation Sum”) based on
the following: (i) where the Audited EBITDA is a positive figure and less
than the sum of HK$3,600,000: Compensation Sum = HK$7,344,000 —
(Audited EBITDA * 4 * 51%); or (i) where the Audited EBITDA is a
negative figure, the Compensation Sum will be equal to HK$7,344,000.
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RERE

RIS Metrotec EEFT L 2 BE W% B EF
R BT R[E1 3 A A A BIE R 1A Metrotec B 2 #5838
ZUMBRRPRMNEHE S _SFE 2T 5K
:g::fﬁwL:ﬁE+—E¢:f@ﬁ7mfﬁf2m#u
ERE N TEREHANCEZRAEE (TEF%
EBITDAJ ) 78 R 1{& 7% 48 < 8 8,000, ooo BT (TRE
EBITDA] ) °

1§48 21% EBITDA SRS B IR EBITDA» AAE)H
AFRERAE (TUERRRR ) 8,976,000 BT I AEEIZ
EBITDA 3 E R BB 1R:E EBITDA BB R T A&
e

fis] 48 25 1Z EBITDA D A fR 58 EBITDA B E R 3 & 10
3,600,000 Bt AABKEUTARNBE A EZHNKE
BRE

RIBERFR = (A% EBITDA * 4 * 51%)
775 o

— 7,344,000 #

W48 &% EBITDA ‘DR {55 EBITDA B{&#* 3,600,000
B BHARAASELRE 8 (MMESHE))
LT AR E () MEEIZEBITDABEH A L®
3,600,000 7T : {EEEE = 7,344,000 BT - (KHEZ
EBITDA * 4 * 51%) ;5% (ii) $4X2E 1% EBITDA A&
B E SRS 7,344,000 BT e



36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 AR

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
(RECEIVABLE)/PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

Adjustment to the consideration (continued)

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable as at 31
December 2021 was based on the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer not connected with the Group. Details of
fair value measurement are set out in Note 7.

As the Metrotec Group recorded losses before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation of HK$3,705,000, HK$2,284,000 and HK$572,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 respectively, the
Directors have reviewed the actual performance for the year ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and expected that the Metrotec Group
would fail to meet the Guaranteed EBITDA. Therefore, fair value change on
contingent consideration receivable of HK$1,162,000 was recognised in
2022.

36. (FEW) ~FE(TSRIAALLE (&)

RERE (]’

RIEB——F+_A=+—H BRIARE A TEE
THER AL R B A EMETZ S
AT EEFEZFERNMHE 70

REE_Z-_TFE T —FE_FT__F+°A4
=t+— EIJLEEF Z2)S Metrotec EEDBIERBHRFIE
FRIE~ 4T 8 K # 88 A1 A5 18 3,705,000 # 7T+ 2,284,000
BITK 572,000 BT AT EEEFR Metrotec ££H
HEZTEF TETFRTECIF+H2A=A—
HIEEEMNERRIR 1LEH Metrotec EBEAZERIR
=5 EBITDAC A » R MR 1,162,000 BT rE
W ARBHAFBEZE)

SHARE CAPITAL 37. kg%
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
A S 4=] iRz mE
000 HK$’000
T FET
Authorised: ERE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each ERMEE0.005F Tz B
At 1 January 2021 A B —F—HF—H 2,000,000 10,000
Share consolidation (note) AR &6t (H1aE) (1,800,000) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BREE.05E Tz EER
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and ATE—F+/A=+—H"
31 December 2022 2T F-B—HK
B2 F+"B=+—H 200,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each BREE0.0058 Tz EEKR
At 1 January 2021 A B —-F—HF—H 1,260,582 6,303
Share consolidation (note) AR & B (H5E) (1,134,524) =
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each FREE.05B Tz ZER
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and ATE - —F+"/=+—H~
31 December 2022 BT F—-H—HRXK
BT _F+"RA=+—H 126,058 6,303
Note: Wizt
On 25 June 2021, every ten issued and unissued shares of HK$0.005 RIZET—FXB+AH A2 EE8+KREMK 0.005 &

each in the Company have been consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.05 each.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

THEETRRETRDEHA—RER 0.056 B TH
ARG o

AEFEBHEAUMRAER BRI
BRE FAREBELEHBARAZHHNTE

BRRREREAOR - FEREEELR
BR BRAEFRBEE_E_—_Fr_F
T F+RB=T—HLFEHEEZH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

37. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

A subsidiary of the Group was licensed with Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC”) for the business it
operated in. The Group’s licensed subsidiary was subject
to liquid capital requirements under Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”) (Cap. 571N of the
laws of Hong Kong) adopted by the SFC. Under SF(FR)
R, the licensed subsidiary must maintain a liquid capital
(assets and liabilities adjusted as determined by SF(FR)R) in
excess of HK$100,000 or 5% of its total adjusted liabilities,
whichever is higher. Management closely monitored, on a
daily basis, the liquid capital level of that licensed subsidiary
to ensure compliance with the minimum liquid capital
requirements under SF(FR)R. During the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2022, the business of this subsidiary
had been suspended and surrendered the licence to SFC in
April 2022.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
The Group seeks to balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt. For the licensed
subsidiary, the Group ensures it will maintain a liquid
capital level adequate to support the level of activities with
sufficient buffer to accommodate for increases in liquidity
requirements arising from potential increases in the level of
business activities.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises lease
liabilities. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, accumulated
losses and other reserves) except for non-controlling
interests. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net debt-
to-equity ratio was not applicable because the Group had
HK$26,945,000 (2021: HK$37,544,000) cash and cash
equivalents which can be sufficient to repay all the debts of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. AR Z B FAIR AR
OF THE COMPANY

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—%F
Director

BF

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) xATZHMBRRAR
Company
2022 2021
=== BT
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Vbi=3 FHET FHEx
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment LEN Y] 1,180 =
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKE 20,939 20,939
Right-of-use assets EREEE 2,680 1,904
Contingent consideration receivable  FEUREIA(E - 6,182
24,799 29,025
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables and prepayments  EFEUGRIE R Fa T TUIE 1,645 1,615
Due from subsidiaries FEW B A BFIA 44,113 58,047
Contingent consideration receivable  FEUREAE 6,977 -
Cash and cash equivalents BEKMIREEEY 4,922 3,897
57,657 63,559
Current liabilities REERE
Accruals and other payables FESTRRIB K E At RS TRIB 285 228
Due to subsidiaries [ETHI B A B RIE 14,712 31,094
Lease liabilities HESRE 1,550 1,232
16,547 32,554
Net current assets RBEEFE 41,110 31,005
Total assets less current liabilities B EMERFHARE 65,909 60,030
Non-current liabilities EREAR
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,157 646
1,157 646
NET ASSETS BERE 64,752 59,384
Capital and reserves B AR
Share capital iEZiN 6,303 6,303
Reserves EE 38(b) 58,449 53,081
TOTAL EQUITY W AR%E 64,752 59,384
The Company’s statement of financial position was KRB ZHMBHRRRENRZIZE =
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 24 ATt NHEEESHERERET
March 2023 and signed on its behalf by: BWAHMNTALARSEE:

Chan Wai Lung
PES
Director

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

38. XA B Z BTN R & (48)

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(b) xRBFEZES

Share
Share Special options Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
R iEME BRIGE RERERE Rt fazt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Note 39(b)(v)
HEE39(b)(v)
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—&—B—AH 299,281 20,938 1,858 (137,336) 114,741
Loss and total comprehensive income  EREGEREEZEBA
for the year 438 - - - (61,660)  (61,660)
Share options lapsed B ERE - - (245) 245 -
At 31 December 2021 and RIB2Z—F+ZA
1 January 2022 =t+—Bk
2" "F—-F—H 229,281 20,938 1,613 (198,751) 53,081
Share options lapsed BRI - - (1,613) 1,613 -
Profit and other comprehensive income EREF REMEE
for the year WA - - - 5,368 5,368
At 31 December 2022 = —
+ZB=+—H 229,281 20,938 - (191,770) 58,449
39. RESERVES 39. i
(a) Group (a) =&EE

(b)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

Share premium arises from the issue of shares at
a price greater than the par value of the shares
and can be utilised for future bonus issue.

(ii) Share Options Reserve

Share options reserve arises on the grant of share
options to eligible participants under the Scheme.
Further information about share-based payments
is set out in note 40.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

39. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(continued)

(iiij) Merger Reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares issued by the
Company in exchange for the nominal value of the
share capital of its subsidiaries arising from the
reorganisation to rationalise the group structure
in preparation for the listing on 28 August 2013
(“Reorganisation”).

(iv) Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of
financial assets at FVTOCI held at the end of the
reporting period and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy in note 4(m) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(v) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between
the fair value of the shares of Infinite Capital
Ventures Limited acquired pursuant to the
Reorganisation, over the previous nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore.

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (“Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 10 September
2013 so as to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentive to the eligible participants
under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their absolute
discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, grant
options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
consultants or advisors of the Group, or any substantial
shareholders of the Group, or any distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service
providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The eligibility of any participants to the grant of
any options shall be determined by the Directors from time
to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to their
contribution or potential contribution to the development
and growth of the Group.

39. f# R ()
(b) M 2 1 E K B &9 (48)

(iii) & GHEE
EHBEEELARBDNR_ZE—=F
NBZH+NBAEHE LT mETT
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AMMERBABRAMEZEITR
Mz EBEEAZERAEDEBEZ EZ8C

(iv) UL FEEFARMEEKRAZ
EHEEFE
UrFEEFAEMZEKRAZ
TRMEERMBOENRIARST
BN RBAEMBREWEE 4(m)
W5t BEREEN U R T EES
AHEMEEBRAZEREEAT
BENRSEHFR

(v) 1R E
N RmERBREMEMKE
Z Infinite Capital Ventures
Limited A 2z A FEEBESR
REIAMURZMPTIRERMD 2 B #&
TROZBTFEENELE.

40. LA 2 {F7RIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme
(continued)

Under the Scheme, the maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue upon the date of which the shares are
listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The
10% limit may be refreshed at any time by approval of the
Company’s shareholders provided that the total number of
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. Subject to the approval of
the Company’s shareholders, the aggregate number of the
Company'’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time
to time. No options may be granted under the Scheme or
any other share options schemes of the Company if this will
result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
grant must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being. Where any further grant
of options to a participant under the Scheme would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme
(continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates must be approved by the independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is the grantee). Where any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their
respective associates would result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to such person in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5 million, such grant must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in
writing within 7 days inclusive of the date of the offer. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme at any time during a period as the Directors
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the
date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option with a remittance in
favour of the Company within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 7 days from the
date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by
the Directors and notified to a participant and shall be at
least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option; (i) the average
closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s share on the
date of grant of the option.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on 10 September 2013 and expiring
on the business day immediately preceding the 10th
anniversary thereof i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to
early termination provisions contained in the Scheme. The
remaining share options were all lapsed during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 40. AR {7 2 (7R 1E (48)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme RS E 2 BRESTE (8)
(continued)
The maximum number of shares of the Company which may RIREFHREETUEREZMBER
be issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted BETHERAUTETZARIRDT RS H
under the existing Scheme limit is 12,605,823 shares BE% 12,605,823 BRRM EERARERN
(representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital AR EBHEETRAZA 10%e

of the Company as at the date of this report).

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to BREVTIESSMNREBREFREZEY
be determined and identified by the Board to each grantee B E 0 S A AR A BV HATR ABERF1T (0
at the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but NEBiER L HHR#Est 10 Fo

in any event no later than 10 years from the date of grant.

There is no performance target which must be achieved AR I FE B& #E BT F 1T (B Al > B IR AT ZE 2 A
before any of the options can be exercised. ZRIFEBE
The following share options were outstanding under the UTAERNFRE TG RTHEZBRE:
Scheme during the year:
2022 2021
ZEICEF T —F
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise of share exercise of share
price options price options
T T
IfEE  EBREZHE THEE  EREZHE
HK$ HK$
AT BT
(note (a))
(H:%(a)
At the beginning of year HER 0.49 8,816,000 0049 100,760,000
Effect due to share consolidation (note (a)) RRDEHEE W2 (a) - - - (90,684,000)
Lapsed during the year (note (b)) RERKR (W72 0) - (8,816,000) - (1,260,000)
At the end of year RER 0.49 - 0.49 8,816,000
Note: st
(@) The number of share options and the exercise price have been (a) HREZZ—FRB+HEHEMNRMDEH
adjusted pursuant to the share consolidation effective on 25 June BREZHERITEESLHEE
2021.
(b)  The share option lapsed in 2021 because of forfeiture of share b) RIZT—H HENEGERSAENERTERER
option granted to eligible participants upon their resignation while WP TR E M-S ZFNRMIETE
the lapse in 2022 represented expiry of exercise period. HARfE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE _ZE_ " F+_B=+—HILFE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 40. ARG 17 2 (4R 1E (48)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme RS E 2 BRESTE (8)
(continued)
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options N _E _—F+_B=+—HEKRTEE
outstanding as at 31 December 2021 were as follows: Rz ITHEERTEHRUOT:

Exercise price of share option

Number of share options (HK$ per share) Exercise period
B EHE MBI IEITEE (B #ET) 1T1EHR
8,816,000 0.49 10 December 2020 to
9 December 2022
8,816,000 0.49 “ECEE+"RA+HE
2 TF+ZHAAH
41.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 1. R ERERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) MEEHFAIEENEBZHIR
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s T%Eﬁﬁuﬁ%lﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%im%
liabilities arising from financing activities, including EE(BRRSMIFRSEE) HE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising MEIHELNEEARETEY T/t
from financing activities are those for which cash flows It HERRERER MR RNE BT
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the ERENREXRDPEAMETHMER
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash ERENEE.

flows from financing activities.

1 January Early Interest 31 December

2022 Addition termination Cash flows expenses 2022

“E-CF “E-CF

—B—H AE  RERLE  RERE  AEMEX +ZA=+-H

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET TET TET TET FET

Lease liabilities HE&RE 14,650 3,129 (877) (8,422) 592 9,072
1 January Interest 31 December

2021 Addition  Cash flows expenses 2021

- 2 —®TF

—F—H hE RERg FIER:Z +ZA=t+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET

Lease liabilities HE&E 11,758 9,968 (7,716) 640 14,650
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e MBS ER AR MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

41.

42,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow

ARARERNERME (&)

(b) HERERHEE
Bt ARAREMBRANEESE

statements for leases comprise the following: BETARIE:
2022 2021
—E-- BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHET
Within operating cash flows REEREREN 592 640
Within financing cash flows RREREREN 7,830 7,076
8,422 7,716

LEGAL PROCEEDING

During the year ended 31 December 2020, MSL, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company was involved
in a litigation and being the second defendant which the
plaintiff (the “Plantiff”) requested for a claim of approximately
HK$1,500,000 from the first defendant and MSL.

The first defendant is an independent contractor and an
exclusive distributor of stored value mastercard for MSL.
The first defendant has entered into a contract with the
Plaintiff for sales of card on 18 March 2020.

MSL submitted the Defence on 9 July 2020 and the
litigation is still in progress. The directors of MSL denied
the accusation as MSL had never been a contracting party
of the contract between the first defendant and the Plaintiff
and has never received any payment from the Plaintiff.

Given that the above legal case was incurred prior to the
acquisition of the Metrotec Group by the Company and the
vendor of the acquisition has undertaken to indemnify the
Company for any loss arising out of or in connection with
the above legal case, the Directors are of the opinion that
it is unlikely to have any significant financial impact on the
Group.
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44,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e MBS ER IR MY E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIEE

F+ZA=+—H FxEHILE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 43. JAEF

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any N

significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil). FREANAGR(CE_—F H|)
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 44, REHEZHE

The Group as lessor TEBEAHAA

Operating leases relate to investment properties owned
by the Group with lease terms of one year, with one year
extension. The lessees do not have an option to purchase
the properties at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

HERWNREEEMRNT:

AEFEFMBEAREYEEBZEZEHEERN
THER 1 o AEH — Fo R AN EEER
HEmRBEYE-

2022 2021

= BT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHET

Within one year —FR 17 -
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit TRENFIERRPHRENEE:

or loss:

2022 2021

—ECF =4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FH7T

Lease income on operating leases KEHENHEEWA 25 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

77 g

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & ZE—_E__&F+_F=+—HIEE

45.

46.

iR e M B HRRMEE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
its related parties during the year:

The remuneration of key management personnel during the
year was as follows:

45. BIEHF R 5

RReMBREAEMBORENIRMEST
PDREHRZINRERNAEREERFESE
7 25

FRIEZEBABHFIMNT:

/

2022 2021

B BT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FifiT Fi#T

Short-term benefits fGHAR) 2R 4,777 3,426
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 46. IR SHAEEIE

PERIOD

On 13 January 2023, Golden Spade Limited (“GSL”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the
Placing Agent entered into the Placing Letter pursuant
to which GSL has agreed to subscribe for 8,000,000
shares in Tibet Water Resources Ltd., whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, at an
aggregate consideration (excluding transaction costs) of
HK$3,080,000. Details of the subscription are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 13 January 2023.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements, is

set out below:

RESULTS

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFEMBRE

RIFEREDHME (HiEETIEE
=) BT

eSS

Year ended 31 December

#E+-A=t+-HILEE

FERNBEILEMBEEZXEREE -BR
BEZHHR

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZEICHF | IR ZEIZRE “Z-hE “ZN\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHT FHET FHET FHET FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RBREER
Revenue Wz 60,823 66,642 76,329 73,837 70,126
Cost of sales SHE A (19,845) (19,998) (20,283) (20,167) (19,822)
Gross profit EF] 40,978 46,644 56,046 53,670 50,304
Other income HAWA 1,706 78 3,413 411 367
Other losses Hithgsig (9,490) (1,022 (6,610) (2,511) (2,415)
Loan receivables written off FEUR & R ies - (1,515) - - -
Provision for impairment loss on loan ~ FEWEFRF B/
and interest receivables REBERE (749) (13,265) (46,456) (12,545) -
Provision for impairment loss on AENR ERIEEE
goodwill - (6,726) - (10,295) -
Fair value change on contingent (FE%) /RS ARE
consideration (receivable)/payable AT EEEE 1,162 6,203 - - 7
Provision for impairment loss on FEUR S A RER
contingent consideration receivable REBERE (367) - - - N
Administrative expenses THRX (58,743) (54,145) (53,251) (44,506) (40,883)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (B518) /m A (25,503) | (23,748)  (46,858)  (15,776) 7,373
Finance costs B AA (592) (640) (237) (61) -
Share of losses of associates (LB E A BIE18 (361) (105) — (856) (2,104)
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—EEE R BBE 9) 7 (37) (26)  (16,733)
Loss before tax FRIRAIES R (26,465)| (24,500) (47,132)  (16,719)  (11,464)
Income tax expense PTSMEY (1,101) (1,827) (3,131) (4,120) (3,739)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEREE (27,566) (26,327) (50,263) (20,839) (15,203)
Loss for the year attributable to: FE{EFEREE:
Owners of the Company EN/NEIEZZ=DN (27,156) | (24,950)  (49,111)  (20,839)  (15,203)
Non-controlling interests FEER T (410) (1,377) (1,152) — -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMBHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BE BfRRIFERER

As at 31 December

nm+ZB=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TSI | I —F ZZ2IEZ2F ZZ—hAEFE ZZ2-N\F
HK$000 | HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FHET TR FET FET FET
Total assets BEEE 103,626 139,482 169,197 216,470 236,458
Total liabilities B(E48%8 40,123 47,619 48,146 47,491 45,763
Non-controlling interests TR R (2,325) (1,915) (538) - -
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